# UPGRADING INFORMAL SETTLEMENTS BY SECURING PUBLIC SPACE Case study on Informal Settlements in Blantyre City, Malawi

Mercy Muthoni Njamwea March, 2003

# UPGRADING INFORMAL SETTLEMENTS BY SECURING PUBLIC SPACES Case study of Informal Settlements in Blantyre City, Malawi

by

Mercy Muthoni Njamwea

Thesis submitted to the International Institute for Geo-information Science and Earth Observation in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science in Urbann Planning and Land administration

Degree Assessment Board

Chairman External Examiner First Supervisor Second Supervisor Professor Ir. P. van der Molen – PGM, ITC Professor Dr. A. van der Veen – BSK, University of Twente Drs. J. C. de Meijere – PGM, ITC A. Kagawa, MSc. – PGM, ITC



INTERNATIONAL INSTITUTE FOR GEO-INFORMATION SCIENCE AND EARTH OBSERVATION ENSCHEDE, THE NETHERLANDS

#### Disclaimer

This document describes work undertaken as part of a programme of study at the International Institute for Geo-information Science and Earth Observation. All views and opinions expressed therein remain the sole responsibility of the author, and do not necessarily represent those of the institute.

Dedicated

to Desire, my beloved son and source of encouragement, to my father, who always saw a better tomorrow for me and to Richard, for making a chapter in "the life's and time's of Mercy"

#### Abstract

Informal Settlements in the urban centres are a growing phenomenon in the developing world. Half the world's population is housed in them. The cause of Informal Settlements has been explained as being due to increase in number of the urban poor through migration from rural area, natural population growth and lack of affordable serviced houses in the urban centres. This has led to the invasion of public and private land by low-income groups without prior planning. It has also led to acquisition of land through unauthorized and unregulated means with no land tenure security and in areas where basic social services and infrastructure are lacking.

The problem of informality has been addressed through several methods. One of these methods is the upgrading of the settlements through regularization of tenure and by provision of basic social services and infrastructures.

This study explores the evolvement and development of Informal Settlements using case study from the city of Blantyre, Malawi by looking at:

- how tenure perceptions influence the development of individual housing
- the availability, security and development of Public Spaces.

Using data collected from ground survey and spatial data derived from (time series) aerial photographs it was established that households have "informal secure means" of acquiring property and that they do not concern themselves with formal tenure security. Development on individual houses was found to be incremental while Public Spaces were inadequate, under developed and remain "informal".

This study proposes that for sustainable upgrading projects to be undertaken in the future, tenure security of Public Spaces for the flow of collective goods and services is paramount. It recommends an active role of the planners, land administrators and local authorities in ensuring that the current Public Spaces are secured through registration and development, a process that could be facilitated by liaising with local leaders and residents.

T

#### Acknowledgements

This research would never have been were it not for my lecturer Johan de Meijere who believed I was material for Msc. and the UPLA Programme Director Mark Brussels who accepted me in the Msc. class even when he knew my weakness. Thank you both.

I wish to acknowledge the much work put into this research by my supervisors Drs. Johan de Meijere and Ms. Ayako Kagawa (Aya). The guidance, lively discussions, helpful suggestions and critical review of the manuscript made this work what it is. Aya's patience, prompt response to questions, meetings and reference material kept me going. And when the going got tough, Johan made a point of seeing me in class and found time to talk about my son. I am sincerely grateful to the two for professional input and friendship.

Several lectures at different times positively contributed to my study. Prof. Paul van der Molen was instrumental in making me see the link between GIS and Land management. The lively teaching of Emile Dopheide and Liza Groenendijk made weeks of class work bearable. It was through the dedication and understanding that Erick de Man and Aya had in taking us through the thesis proposal modules that had me started. To both of you, I say thank you.

I am deeply indebted to friends and relatives in Kenya for having taken care of my son. Special thanks goes to Mama Macharia for managing to be a second mama to Desire. I appreciate the role of Mr. Mukobe, his time and patience with a teenager like Desire. To Mr. Patrick Maritim and the teaching community of Upper Hill School, I say, God bless you. Special thanks to Mr. Paul Mathenge, Ministry of Lands and Settlement, Kenya for his assistance and morally support in the initial application for this study. Thanks to my parents and brother Ngumo for love and care to me and Desire me.

When all is said and done, it is to Mr. John Chome, Director of Physical Planning, Blantyre City Assembly that I owe for my field study. I thank him for accepting to supervise me, for allowing me to socialize with his family and for being the father of Triphonia, my best friend in Malawi. Many thanks also to the entire Blantyre City Assembly community for information and assistance willingly given during my study.

The groundwork in Malawi is the result of dedication and times that Mr. Lucky Kabanga accorded me. For the tiring walks, late working ours and days without food, I say pole sana. Under the same breath I thank his wife Beatrice for moral support and for opening her home to me. I thank my colleagues in UPLA for the talks and jokes, for free consultations and encouragement that they accorded me. Special thanks to Li Liu for being so lively and for occasional tea breaks. I appreciate Katia's concern and her outings out of ITC. I needed you all!

Lastly and most importantly, I owe it to God. With all the miracles in my life, I still pray and request for another day! Amen.

INTERNATIONAL INSTITUTE FOR GEO-INFORMATION SCIENCE AND EARTH OBSERVATION

Ш

### Table of contents

ABSTI	RACT	Ι
ACKN	OWLEDGEMENTS	II
TABLI	E OF CONTENTS	III
LIST C	DF FIGURES	VII
	OF TABLES	VIII
	OF MAPS	VIII
	OF PHOTOGRAPHS	VIII
LIST	n morookai no	V 111
1. CHAP	TER ONE	1
1.1. In	TRODUCTION	1
1.2. BACI	KGROUND	1
1.3. INTE	RVENTIONS	2
1.4. Rese	EARCH PROBLEM AND JUSTIFICATION	3
1.4.1.	Global campaigns on adequate shelter and secure tenure	4
1.5. Rese	EARCH OBJECTIVES AND QUESTIONS	5
1.5.1.	Specific objective	5
1.5.2.	Research questions:	5
1.6. Wor	KING DEFINITIONS	6
1.6.1.	Individual space	
1.6.2.	Pubic space	
1.6.3.	Informal Settlements	
1.6.4.	Tenure security	
1.6.5.	Perceived tenure	
1.6.6.	Village head	
1.7. Org.	ANIZATION OF THE THESIS	7
2. UPGR	ADING INFORMAL SETTLEMENTS PACKAGES	AND
	ODS APPLIED	
	ODUCTION	
	RMAL SETTLEMENTS	
	TAL PLANNING IN CITIES	
	ORICAL ASPECTS OF INFORMAL SETTLEMENTS	
2.5.1. 2.5.2.	Eviction	
2.5.2. 2.5.3.	Housing programs Sites and service schemes	
2.5.3. 2.5.4.		
	<i>Upgrading</i> RADING PACKAGES AND CASE EXAMPLES	
2.0. 0PG 2.6.1.	The Kampung Improvement Programme (KIP) in Indonesia	
2.6.2.	Upgrading of Gecekondus in Ankara city of Turkey	
2.6.3.	Ismailia upgrading project in Egypt	
2.0.3. 2.6.4.	Upgrading project in Lusaka, Zambia	
2.6. <i>5</i> .	Tondo urban Development Project in Manila-Philippines	
2.0.0.	1 on a oun Development 1 rojeet in manua 1 muppines	

Ш

2.7. OVERVIEW ON UPGRADING PACKAGES	15
2.7.1. Planning as a package	
2.7.2. Tenure package	
2.7.3. Basic Social Services and Infrastructure	
2.8. CONCLUSION	16
3. BACKGROUND TO THE STUDY AREA	18
3.1. INTRODUCTION	
3.2. LOCATION	
3.3. RAPID URBANIZATION	
3.4. RISE OF INFORMAL SETTLEMENTS	20
3.4.1. Short supply of housing and serviced land	
3.4.2. Pragmatic Housing Policy	
3.4.3. Uncoordinated management and control of Public La	<i>ind</i> 22
3.4.4. Uncoordinated supply of basic services and infrastru	cture22
3.5. LAND ADMINISTRATION	
3.5.1. Blantyre City Assembly	
3.5.2. Malawi Housing Corporation	
3.5.3. Central Government	
3.5.4. Traditional Leaders	
3.6. LAND TENURE	
3.6.1. Private land	
<i>3.6.2. Public land</i>	
3.6.3. Customary land	
3.7. LAND POLICIES	25
3.8. Study Settlements	
3.8.1. Ndirande Informal Settlement	
3.8.2. Chirimba Informal settlement	
3.8.3. Public facilities in the study Settlements	
<i>3.8.4. Availability of education and health facilities</i>	
3.8.5. Refuse Collection	
3.8.6. Access Roads	
3.8.7. Community organizations	
3.9. SUMMARY	
4. STUDY METHODOLOGY	29
4.1. INTRODUCTION	
4.2. FIELD PROCESS	
4.3. SELECTION OF STUDY SETTLEMENTS	
4.3.1. Criteria used for settlement selection	
4.4. DATA SOURCES AND METHOD OF INQUIRY	
4.4.1. Household interviews	
4.4.2. Sampling	
4.4.3. Village heads and officials interviews	
4.4.4. Spatial data	
4.5. Research Methodology: Field	

IV

5.	AN	IALYSIS	. 36
4	5.1.	INTRODUCTION	36
	5.2.	LAND ACCESSIBILITY AND EVOLVEMENT OF INFORMAL SETTLEMENTS	36
	5.2	1. Access to land for housing in unplanned settlements	37
	5.2	2. Interest on Land for housing	38
	5.2	<i>3.</i> Settlements attraction	38
	5.2	4. Status of land at acquisition	39
	5.3.	TENURE SECURITY PERCEPTIONS	40
	5.4.	INCREMENTAL DEVELOPMENT	
	5.4		42
	5.4	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
-		PUBLIC SPACE PERCEPTIONS	
	5.5		
	5.5		
	5.5		
	5.5		
	5.5	0	
	5.6.		
	5.6	$\sim r$	
	5.7.	STATISTICAL ANALYSIS	
	5.8.	PUBLIC ADMINISTRATORS PERCEPTION OF INFORMAL SETTLEMENTS	
	5.8	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
		2. Local Government	
	5.8		
	5.8	2 8	
	5.9.	SUMMARY	56
6.	DI	SCUSSION	. 57
	5.1.	INTRODUCTION	57
	5.2.	INFORMAL SETTLEMENTS	
	5.3.	GLOBAL CAMPAIGNS	
	5.4.	APPLIED UPGRADING PACKAGES IN INFORMAL SETTLEMENTS IN BLANTYRE	
	5.5.	RESIDENTS CONTRIBUTION	
	5.6.	PUBLIC SPACE UPGRADING MODEL	
		DNCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS	
	7.1.	INTRODUCTION	
	7.2.	EVOLVEMENT AND DEVELOPMENT OF INFORMAL SETTLEMENTS	
	7.3.	LAND TENURE SECURITY PERCEPTIONS AND STATE OF PUBLIC SPACES	
	7.4.	HOUSEHOLD IMPROVEMENTS AND LIMITATIONS	
	7.5.	COMMUNITY ORGANIZATIONS AND PUBLIC ADMINISTRATION PERCEPTIONS	
	7.6.	UTILITY CONNECTIONS AND UPGRADING POLICIES	
	7.7.	PHYSICAL CHANGES IN THE SETTLEMENTS	
	7.8.	RECOMMENDATIONS	
,	7.9.	FUTURE RESEARCH RECOMMENDATIONS	/1

V

8. REFERENCES	72
9. APPENDICES	77
9.1. APPENDIX 1: HOUSEHOLD GUIDE QUESTIONNAIRES	77
9.2. APPENDIX 2: CHIRIMBA SAMPLED POINT COORDINATES	
9.3. APPENDIX 3: NDIRANDE SAMPLED POINT COORDINATES	
9.4. APPENDIX 4: UTILITY PROVIDERS QUESTIONNAIRE	
9.5. APPENDIX 5: DEPARTMENTAL OFFICIALS QUESTIONNAIRE	
9.5.1. Questions to City Assembly's Roads Engineer	
9.5.2. Questions to City Assembly's Community Officer	
9.5.3. Questions to City Assembly Physical planner.	
9.5.4. Questions to Officer in the Commissioner of Lands department	nt85
9.6. APPENDIX 6: VILLAGE HEADS QUESTIONNAIRE	85

VI

## List of Figures

Figure 1.1 The two ways of professional approaches to upgrading of Informal	
Settlements	4
Figure 3.1 Population Growth of Blantyre City 1947 to 1999	19
Figure 4.1 Research Field Process	29
Figure 4.2 Spatial Data Processing	33
Figure 4.3 Research Methodology	35
Figure 5.1 Means of acquiring land in Ndirande and Chirimba	38
Figure 5.2 Factors considered on settlement choice.	39
Figure 5.3 Evolvement of Informal Settlements and relationships that exist	40
Figure 5.4 Development control in unplanned areas.	40
Figure 5.5 Chirimba's households intentions Figure 5.6 Ndirande households'	
intentions	41
Figure 5.7 Chirimba disposal means Figure 5.8 Ndirande disposal means	47
Figure 5.9 Development priorities in the settlements	48
Figure 6.1 Proposed Public Space informal settlement upgrading model	62

## List of Tables

Table 3-1 Population of Malawi's main cities	20
Table 3-2 Housing demand between 1977 and 1999 and population percentages in	
Informal Settlements.	21
Table 3-3 Number of house and serviced plots availed by MHC, 1986-1993	24
Table 3-4 Main residential categories and the authorities in charge.	25
Table 4-1 Sources of data and respondents	31
Table 5-1 Means of acquiring Land	37
Table 5-2 Interest on Land	38
Table 5-3 Physical and socio-economic characteristics for Chirimba and Ndirande	42
Table 5-4 House Improvements and intentions	43
Table 5-5 Perceptions of Public Spaces/Facilities	45
Table 5-6 Building increase in Ndirande	49
Table 5-7 Building Increase in Chirimba over time	51
Table 9-1 Chirimba sampled point coordinates	81
Table 9-2 Ndirande sampled point coordinates	82

## List of Maps

Map 3-1 Location of Malawi and Blantyre City	18
Map 3-2 Location of Informal Settlements in Blantyre	21
Map 4-1 Ndirande sampled house holds	34
Map 4-2 Chirimba sampled house holds	34
Map 5-1 Buildings and Public Spaces in Ndirande in 1990	49
Map 5-2 Buildings and Public Spaces in Ndirande in 1998	50
Map 5-3 Buildings on road in Ndirande in 1998	51
Map 5-4 Chirimba informal settlement 1987	52
Map 5-5 Chirimba 1990	52
Map 5-6 Chirimba 1998	53
Map 5-7 Chirimba developments on Public Space 1998	53

## List of Photographs

Photo 5.1 Ndirande	Photo	5.2 Chirimba	42
Photo 5.3 Ndirande	Photo 5	5.4 Chirimba	44
Photo 5.5 Roadside du	mping	Photo 5.6 River dumping	47

## 1. CHAPTER ONE

#### 1.1. Introduction

Poverty is a problem that developing countries have not been able to overcome successfully. In the urban areas, poverty has led to the growth of Informal Settlements which are basically, but not necessarily so, residential areas for the low-income groups. The UN-Habitat (1996) estimated that 30 to 70% of the urban growth in developing countries is informal.

Informal Settlements arise when people build on land they have no legal tenure to or by not conforming to planning, registration and/or the building regulations of the respective local authorities in which they are located (Abbott, 2001). The degree and definition of informality differs from one local authority to another, one country to the other (Payne, 2001) and it is determined by what factors are in consideration. In some countries it is the high density and lack of adequate basic services leading to slums while in others it is the invasion of public and private land and unapproved developments resulting into squatter settlements (Srinivas, 2002).

Informal Settlements have undergone a historical process starting with denial of basic services by respective governments to accepting that they are social and economic entities in their own right and should be supported and encouraged to grow (Abbott, 2000). It is in this regard that governments with the assistance of donor countries and international organization have embarked on housing and formalization programmes to the present day on site upgrading schemes.

#### 1.2. Background

The most noted cause of Informal Settlements is high migration from the rural areas by people who are in search of job opportunities and better living conditions than what is available in the rural areas. Natural population growth over the years and continued extension of urban boundaries to areas where customary tenure existed has also led to increased informal phenomenon (Baken, 1991).

The migrants come ready to earn income and to consume the services not available in the rural areas. So, the city offers hope as an economic centre. Unfortunately the cities are not planned for these magnitudes of growth in population that never stops to flow in nor do they in reality have the required jobs and facilities (Srinivas, 1999). The results are people without employment or of low-income who cannot afford available houses when they are there or land in the market for putting up a house.

This leads to squatting on available vacant government, private, religious or customary owned land. This is done through invasion regardless of these ownerships or environmental suitability. Initially these invaded settlements were characterized by own built structures for family residence, (Amis, 1984).

However, increased demand for low cost houses has made these settlements havens for rental units (Okpala, 1999), while general commercialization of urban land markets, and persistent lack of planned

affordable vacant land by governments has resulted into illegal subdivisions. On the other hand, strict high planning and building regulations that are beyond the reach of the growing number of low-income groups leads to search for housing outside the legal and planning framework (Baken, Nietied, Pettenburg and Zaaijer, 1991).

In the end as noted by Payne (2002) and MacAuslan (1985), it is a situation of settlements said to be informal and characterized by:

- Poverty
- Lack of basic services and infrastructure.
- Lack of formal tenure.
- Poor housing.
- Exposure to environmental hazards by building on marginal lands and flood prone areas.
- High density.

Informal Settlements in some countries like Malawi, trace their existence to three main factors. High rate of population growth due to rural-urban migration leading to low-incomes and unemployment (National Plan of action 1995-2000), financial constraints that prevent the government from building conventional houses to meet the demand (Chilowa, 1996); and government extension of municipality boundaries to hitherto traditional villages without compensating and removing the indigenous occupants but subjecting them to planning by laws.

#### 1.3. Interventions

Public authorities in the beginning, viewed Informal Settlements as undesirable which led to eviction and demolition. Eviction was common more so in the periods between 1920s and 1950s and was backed by law (Payne, 1984). Demolitions still happen in some countries like India and elsewhere in Africa more because these settlements occupy some of the best located sites in terms of commercial developments and due to political interests on these sites.

The period between 1950 to early 1960s was dedicated to re-development that saw the rise of the housing programmes, many of which were launched after 1960 but did not last long due to the cost involved that "meant that public housing almost always missed the intended target groups" (Tebbal and Ray, 2001, pg 1)". In Malawi, the Malawi Housing Corporation (MHC) was started in 1963 to develop and construct houses for all income groups (Chilowa, 1996).

Then came the site and service schemes of mid 1960s to early 1970s that aimed at providing better housing to the poor on top of offering opportunity for home ownership with a form of legal tenure. Site and Service approach recognized the ability of the poor to built theirs own housing when provided with a site and basic facilities. The World Bank supported this type of development (Srinivas 2002). The site and service approach has however, not worked successfully for it requires funds that most developing governments do not have and the sites so developed have not in reality benefited the poor. They still ended up being too expensive for the poor due to cost recovery and their isolation from the job opportunities which was an added cost on transport to the poor (De Oliveira, 1996).

The latest has been the upgrading of these settlements from mid 1970s. Upgrading is the improvement of the Informal Settlements without the total relocation of the existing population (Abbott and Doug-

las, 2002). The aim is to improve the living conditions in the settlements. This includes improving and/or installing basic infrastructure such as water, sanitation, waste collection, access roads, foot-paths, storm drainage, lighting, and public telephones among other things. Upgrading also includes regularizing security of land tenure and housing improvements. It involves access to social support programs like education, health and income generating activities.

Since the time upgrading was accepted as a solution to the situation of informality several methods have been used in different projects internationally. It is noted that there is no one upgrading approach that is uniformly applicable to all the settlements (Abbott and Douglas, 2001). Some of the most applied methods of upgrading Informal Settlements involve:

- Sanitation and potable water supply.
- Infrastructure improvement
- Housing improvement
- Community choice projects
- Formal tenure provision
- Integrated approach to planning.

Upgrading of Informal Settlements is therefore the latest effort put across by respective governments and donor countries. Upgrading recognises the need for individual households to access basic services and infrastructure and in some cases, the right of ownership of the properties each household owns by giving secure tenure. Upgrading can directly relate to *individual space* where a house stands by giving tenure and basic service for self-improvement or the *Public Space* where utilities and services for the general community are located.

#### 1.4. Research problem and justification

Formal residential planning generally creates two distinct spaces in an urban setting. Those that are for individual house developments and those for public use. The different upgrading methods mentioned earlier, target theses spaces in different ways. Exploring the nature of tenure security and development that has taken place on theses two spaces is of interest to this research. Understanding how they have been developed will help in determining future upgrading methods.

The activities carried out in upgrading incorporate several components as a package in that there is the physical planning, provision of infrastructure depending on identified needs and tenure in some cases. Though these activities are many, they can be categorized into two as:

- 1. Those aimed at directly improving the physical condition of the settlement. They include the physical layout planning, provision of the most needed basic facilities in terms of infrastructure, public facilities and income generating opportunities.
- 2. The official land legalization that aims at securing legal tenure to the informal residents. It is hoped that titles issued in the process would be used as collateral, reflected on house improvements and income generating activities. Eventually, the settlements' physical condition would improve. This is advocated by the World Bank (1996) and the UN-Habitat (1996).

These two categories of upgrading have generated differences especially at local actors level. Land and public administrators who include planners and surveyors view formal tenure through registration of properties as a solution to informality. With this, it is believed that utility providers would be able to penetrate to provide the needed facilities. Besides the settlers have a document to negotiate for loans for housing improvement.

On the other hand titling is seen as a sector based approach that is not realistic to the needs in the Informal Settlements by those who advocate for basic services approach (Abbott, 2000; Fourie, 2001). These are mainly people who are within the housing engineering fields and basic infrastructure providers. These two approaches are shown by figure 1.1



Figure 1.1 The two ways of professional approaches to upgrading of Informal Settlements

By titling individual plots, households are expected to have the will to develop better houses besides accessing lending organization for self-economic development. If Public Spaces are developed, services like health and education will be readily available, households get connected to basic infrastructures and the general physical condition of the settlement is improved. The two approaches are in line with the global campaigns for adequate housing and security of tenure for sustainable urban development.

#### 1.4.1. Global campaigns on adequate shelter and secure tenure

The World Bank and United Nations Human Settlement Programme (UN-Habitat) have dealt with problems in the Informal Settlements and slums widely. Over the years in urban centres, World Bank has funded housing programs and introduced site and service schemes. Having not achieved the goal in reduction of slums and Informal Settlements growth, formal tenure through titling and upgrading projects were introduced. Titling is based on a model developed for rural land reforms where increased farm productivity, efficient land markets and land distribution were put into consideration (World Bank's Land Reform Policy Paper). However, benefits of formal titling have been questioned in most rural areas (Bruce and Migot-Adhola, 1994) and the success is even less in urban areas.

UN-Habitat strives for adequate shelter. In the Slums and Informal Settlements it recognises the need for increased housing stock, improvement of physical housing condition, supply of services and infrastructure and physical environmental improvement. To achieve sustainable shelter, it attaches the need for secure tenure. In 1999, it launched the global campaign for secure tenure, to push forward government's commitment to adequate shelter for all. The search for solutions to housing and associated problems in the Informal Settlements has led to several world summits on sustainable development, Habitat agendas and Millennium development goals; all by UN-HABITAT and UN affiliated bodies. What comes out of these campaigns is the need for tenure security to households and the need for provision of basic services and infrastructure to improve households living conditions.

While titling gives security to individual plots, Public Space security has not had thorough consideration. In planned formal areas, Public Spaces are known to be allocated to individuals for purposes rather than those of community use. (Siddiqui and Khan, 1990). Existence, quantity and quality of Public Spaces determine service delivery. Engineering and public administration approaches determine the type of upgrading method and the impact in the improvement of living conditions in the settlements. The problem lies in knowing the most appropriate method to apply in upgrading Informal Settlements going by the failures in the past and considering that Informal Settlements are still on the increase in developing countries.

#### 1.5. Research Objectives and questions

The *main* objective of this research is to investigate how Informal Settlements evolve and develop. This will be done through case study of two Informal Settlements in the city of Blantyre in Malawi.

#### 1.5.1. Specific objective

To examine the importance and role of land tenure security in Informal Settlements with regard to development of private properties and Public Spaces by:

- Individual households
- Government agencies

This will be done through investigating the development of informal settlement,

- from a household perception
- from a community organization perception
- from a general public administration perception
- from utility providers perception.

#### 1.5.2. Research questions:

- 1. How and why do Informal Settlements develop?
- 2. Do households perceive land tenure security as an important factor for:
  - Improvement of their houses?
  - Improvement of basic facilities?
  - Improvement of Public Space?
- 3. What are the limiting factors for the households to realize their aspirations in the settlement?
- 4. What role do community organizations play in the settlement?

- 5. How do public administrators perceive informal settlement development spatially and tenure wise?
- 6. How do providers of basic services and infrastructure approach increased demand?
- 7. What physical changes can be detected from aerial photographs in the settlement?
- 8. What policies exist for informal settlement upgrading?

#### 1.6. Working definitions

#### 1.6.1. Individual space

For the purpose of this study, individual space is the plot where a structure(s) or a house(s) stands. It is "private property" that could be owned and developed by one or more identifiable persons and can be issued with a title. Within the text it will also be referred to as a plot.

#### 1.6.2. Pubic space

Public Space in this study is any developed or vacant piece of land that has been set aside officially, unofficially or by people's consensus understanding for community use. It includes roads of access, schools, hospitals, markets, and others that people understand to be for communal use without restriction and should therefore not be allocated for any other purpose.

#### 1.6.3. Informal Settlements

This study takes Informal Settlements to be those residential areas by the official definition of the Malawian government which are either developed on private registered land, government land, are untitled, unplanned or have developed without following the building and development control regulations. These include the traditional villages within the gazetted municipal boundaries that the government feels are subject to planning by–laws .In the report, unplanned settlements have the same meaning as Informal Settlements.

#### 1.6.4. Tenure security

For the purpose of this study, tenure security is referred as the formal guaranteed ownership acquired through property registration with the government. A title could be issued or not issued but the government authority recognizes the ownership.

#### 1.6.5. Perceived tenure

Payne defined land tenure as the mode by which land is held or owned, or the set of relationships among people concerning the use of land and its product (Payne, 1997). In this document, perceived tenure is the confidence expressed by respondents on the ownership of their plots. It is viewed from the trust people have on the mode of acquiring land that they express on feeling of threat that could necessitate seeking of formal tenure.

#### 1.6.6. Village head

The societal structure of Malawi is one of different ethnic groups that were organized around the leadership of a single leader in charge of several villages. The leader who is referred to as traditional leader is assisted by village heads in charge of each specific village. This type of leadership is passed on in the family. The village heads in this document are also referred to as chiefs as that is how most respondents called them. Though ethnicity is not a factor in the urban areas, some elements of traditional culture govern and control development in what were once traditional villages but are now within the city boundaries and hence urban.

#### 1.7. Organization of the thesis

This chapter sets the scene of the study topic, justifies the statement of the problem, the research objective and research questions. It includes as well the working definitions of some of the terms used in the study.

Chapter two critically looks at the literature on Informal Settlements upgrading methods that have been employed over time. The argument developed in the chapter traces the historical evolvement and development of Informal Settlements and interventions that have been there.

Chapter three gives a broad overview on the location and urbanization process that has given rise to Informal Settlements in the City of Blantyre .It presents an overview on land administration issues, the status of land within the city. It also describes the study settlements and the Public Spaces available.

Chapter four details the research methods that were used to collect primary and secondary data. It presents the criterion that was used to select study settlements and the population sampling process. Variables considered in determining tenure perceptions; the development of individual space and the state of Public Space in Informal Settlements.

Chapter five presents the analysis of data and findings of the research with regard to land accessibility and evolvement of Informal Settlements, tenure security perceptions, incremental development and the spatial temporal growth.

Chapter six discuss the findings from chapter five against the background of the literature review in chapter two and the information on Blantyre as presented in chapter three. The arguments raised in the discussion are used to support the conclusions of the research and the formulation of an upgrading model based on Public Space.

Chapter seven makes the conclusion from the analysis done on chapter five in relation to the research objectives and questions. Finally the chapter recommends the likelihood of upgrading living standards in Informal Settlements by securing and developing on a systematic sustainable way Public Space and the facilities meant for these spaces.

7

# 2. UPGRADING INFORMAL SETTLEMENTS PACKAGES AND THE METHODS APPLIED

#### 2.1. Introduction

Human activities take place in two distinct places. In the rural areas and in the urban areas. Thus giving the rural and the urban land use. The rural land use is mainly dominated by agricultural related activities while the urban land use is where manufacturing and service-oriented activities take place. Man has divided these two spatial areas by his activities and for maximum utilization; he plans the activities that should take place on each.

Cities differ in size, in activities, in available services and in population. Land is an important commodity in cities and its use is regulated through physical planning, which is the planning of land to be used in the (near) future by people to provide their needs. (Van Lier, 1994). The needs are diverse and planning determines what activity should take place where, when and how. It is on these lines of use that the city authorities determine, who should own what land, how much and where it should be located. Ownership is regulated through decided upon laws and arrangements just like use is regulated through physical planning and enforcement laws. Any piece of land acquired and developed out of ownership and planning regulatory laws of the respective cities is termed informal. If it is for housing, it gives rise to informal settlement commonly found in the developing countries.

This chapter will be looking at how Informal Settlements have been upgraded once they are accepted as human settlements that have to be in the cities. It will look at what components in terms of planning, ownership (tenure), infrastructure and services have been availed and by whom through case examples. The components in this article will be referred to as packages.

#### 2.2. Informal Settlements

Informal Settlements are defined as residential areas of the urban poor more often in the cities of the developing world. They are found on public, private or customary land accessed by invasion or developed against planning, building and ownership regulations (Abbott, 2001). They lack basic social services and infrastructure facilities. Baken (1991) classifies Informal Settlements as those settlements that:

- Occur due to (un) authorized invasion and development of public and private land,
- Are through subdivision that are not registered officially or subdivisions that do not conform to planning regulations,
- Are within areas covered by customary tenure which have been made part of the city through cities expansion,
- Are built without permits from the local authorities.

Informal Settlements are therefore unauthorised residential areas.

The rise of the urban poor is caused by high migration rate from rural to urban areas in search of job opportunities and better living conditions and natural population growth. The migration process is termed as urbanization (Schmid, 1994). Thus, poverty in the cities has been attributed to rapid urbanization. People are still coming into these cities, children are being born in these cities, because people believe that better life lies in front of them. But many of these cases are being cheated and many continue to be cheated (Hall, 2000).

According to Srivinas (2000), the cities are not prepared for the high magnitude of growth nor do they in reality have the jobs and facilities. The migrants find themselves with no or low paying jobs and with no affordable shelter. This leads to squatting on available vacant government, private or customary owned land. The squatted areas are called squatter settlements. Natural population growth, unavailability of land and affordable housing lead to densification and over utilization of facilities in once planned areas giving rise to slums (Cities Alliance: Upgrading Urban communities, 2001). Slums are highly congested urban settlements. Slums form the Informal Settlements in the cities dealt in some of the upgrading projects.

Migration to cities according to Hall (2000) is due to several factors that differ from country to country. He identified industrialization as one contributor in the 20<sup>th</sup> and 21<sup>st</sup> century. Transport revolution is another contributing factor in that people are able to move from the rural areas to the cities far easier and cheaply than before. On the other hand, political transformation in the developing countries has opened hitherto restricted urban areas to all (Jere, 1984). The political transformation is in the former colonised countries where the colonisers restricted the locals from entering and residing in urban areas. This was the case with colonies under the British rule. However, Urban growth has brought sharp rise in urban poverty with half of the world's poor living in the cities (Hall, 2000) and in the Informal Settlements.

To review Informal Settlements upgrading packages, short sub-headings will be introduced to help in understanding the process Informal Settlements have undergone. Specific upgrading cases that have taken place, the actors and the upgrading components involved will be reviewed. One of the documented methodology of carrying out an upgrading project is found in Payne's Urban project Manual (1983). Critical review of upgrading packages in comparison with what Payne recommends will be done.

#### 2.3. Spatial planning in cities

Land use in the urban areas is regulated through site planning. Planning determines what should take place and where (Van Lier, 1994). Spatial planning (physical planning) mainly aims at economic use of land, orderly settlements and permanent safeguarding and maintenance of physical environment. Spatial planning covers all activities of man in its spatial aspect (Schmid, 1994) This is what professionals in planning wish to fulfil through zoning plans, master plans and land use plans. Formal city has a development sequence as per planning and building regulations. The sequence as Baross (1990) puts it is; planning, service provision, building and occupation (PSBO).

However, implementation of plans has not been easy as seen through the phenomenon of informal settlement. The aspect of economy to land means that land goes to its most profitable use while zoning limits some activities to certain areas. Cost limits the poor from accessing land for housing. High rents in the public and private sectors makes developed houses unaffordable. Access to land for housing by the poor is through invasion of public and private land and construction of unauthorized houses. The process of development in the Informal Settlements is by occupation, building, servicing and planning last (OBSP) (Baross, 1990).

#### 2.4. Tenure

Payne (2002) defines tenure as the mode by which land is held or owned, the set of relationships among people concerning land or its product. He adds that tenure as a concept is difficult for it incorporates several meanings and situations for example, cultural, historical, legal and economic associations that affect peoples perceptions and behavior. In cities, tenure is guaranteed by registration of rights of ownership. Right to land can also be determined by customs (Dale and McLaughlin, 2000). Squatters settle on land without right or title. The component of tenure and its security is said to be important in house improvement (Habitat, 2001). According to Angel (1983), people left on their own gradually improve their shelter. They invest considerable amounts of energy and ingenuity on the construction and improvement of their housing. The improvement can only be done if there is tenure security and no fear of eviction.

For the urban poor the right to use land may be more important than the legal ownership (Baross 1983), resulting in forceful occupation of unoccupied land, rental arrangements and buying through unapproved subdivisions. (Dale and McLaughlin, 2000). As Dale (2000) points out, use rights may entitle the occupier to some or all the profits that arise from using the property. Statutory framework regulate the formal city, de facto rules regulate Informal Settlements, concludes Angel (1983). Informal rights exist in the community in the form of agreement amongst members as to where and how each can exercise the given rights. The social basis of informal ownership is often clearly defined (Dale 2000)

#### 2.5. Historical Aspects of Informal Settlements

As noted before, Informal Settlements are as a result of various reasons. In most developing countries they have a historical aspect dating from the colonial period. Cities by then were exclusively for the colonizers. The locals were allowed in for the services they could offer and were housed in certain localities with no free means of acquiring land. With independence, the flow of locals to the cities was and has been too large for services planned for a small number of people (Jere 1984).

Besides the above, rural poverty and opportunity differences have contributed to mass movements from rural to urban areas. There are other factors like influx of refugees common in Africa and some Asian countries, natural calamities associated mainly with weather and economies that do not seem to improve (Hall and Pfeiffer, 2000). Poverty as noted by the World Bank (1996) is a real challenge in the 21<sup>st</sup> century. The urban poor have resulted to living in the Informal Settlements where they build their houses with their own hands with no title or official permission and depend on informal economy (Hall and Pfeiffer, 2000). The unofficial occupation makes them lack support from authorities for the provision of basic social services and infrastructure. The official reaction was originally eviction and clearance of Informal Settlements.

#### 2.5.1. Eviction

In the very beginning, government's reaction was to evict and destroy the settlements. Laws supported evictions. The dwellings being on private and public land and others on physically unsuitable areas

helped to enforce the laws. Eviction however, has not succeeded as Informal Settlements have continued to increase in number and size from country to country and have ended up housing the majority of the urban dwellers. Besides the urban poor have through time consolidated their resources and number and tried on their own to improve their dwellings (World Bank, 1996). Though evictions still occur in a number of countries, other alternatives had to be sought.

#### 2.5.2. Housing programs

Some governments started housing programs to replace the earlier programs of slum clearance. Mass housing on the other hand requires resources in terms of funds and skills. This is in short supply in developing countries and most of them are said not to have had housing policies, which contain clear and effective measures to deal with major housing constraints (Payne, 1984). It is also noted that most governments cannot afford to house large number of the urban poor. Present level of public investment in housing is inadequate in relation to demand and private housing agencies are building very slowly (Shah; 1984 and Acquaye and Asiama, 1986). In any case the programs by most governments targets the public employees and not the informal employed persons who cannot afford the rent.

#### 2.5.3. Sites and service schemes

The urban poor have never stopped the struggle for housing. With or without services the settlements have continued to spread and the density in them has increased. From being initially dwelling units for owner-occupiers they have become commercialised for rental purposes (Amis, 1984; Okpala, 1999). With self-help groups, community organizations and Non Governmental Organizations (NGOs) some have acquired a level of improvement leading to recognition by the government officials.

It is in recognition of these efforts to house one-self that the governments and World Bank came up with the sites and services schemes. Hall and Pfeifer (2000) rightly put it that the poor have built their own city, without any reference whatsoever to the whole bureaucratic apparatus of planning and control in the formal city next door, and they are rightly proud of what they have achieved.

Sites and service are meant to provide the low-income groups with serviced plots that have tenure security, which they should develop on their own with their own resources or soft loans from governments. The location of the sites is on the other hand discouraging for it means having them on the city peripheries far from job locations. The standards of expected development is still beyond the means of the poor and they end up not with the target group but with government employees' and those with regular incomes. Alongside site and services, the World Bank further noticed the advantages of having on site improvement by availing those basic services that Informal Settlements lack. This new shift is referred to as upgrading and often is carried out at the same time with sites and service schemes when World Bank is the sponsor of the project.

#### 2.5.4. Upgrading

According to World Bank (1996), upgrading at its most basic level involves improving the physical environment of the slums and squatter settlements. This includes improving and installation of basic infrastructure like water, sanitation, waste collection, access roads, footpaths, storm water drainage, lighting, public telephones and land regularization among other things. The Cities Alliance (2002) put it slightly differently by saying that upgrading consists of physical, social economic, organizational and environmental improvements undertaken cooperatively and locally among citizens, community groups, and local authorities to ensure improvements in quality of life for individuals. To Abbott

(2000) it is the improvement of the settlements ensuring minimal relocation of the residents. What is emphasized through these definitions is the on site improvement by provision of basic services and through the participation of the residents.

Informal settlers have accessed land and build their houses on their own. With the help of self-help groups and NGOS, they have acquired some basic services. The issue of what to provide in an upgrading project so as to improve the living condition of the residents and to give the settlements a legal outfit becomes the main question.

There are those services, however, that individuals cannot afford to do on their own outside the formal government set up (Payne and Davidson, 1983) These include expensive undertakings like building roads, schools, legal tenure and planning among other things. These are the ones that the World Bank aims to meet in housing projects.

Informal settlers have incrementally been improving their dwellings and the environmental state of the general settlements for a long time (Silas, 1984). Settlers organize themselves along Church bodies and other small area groups for this purpose (Abbott, 1996). To find out how successful upgrading has been it requires looking at some specific upgrading cases. The packages offered are in terms of tenure, physical site planning, social services and infrastructure provision.

#### 2.6. Upgrading packages and case examples

#### 2.6.1. The Kampung Improvement Programme (KIP) in Indonesia.

Jakarta and Surabaya are some of the cities in Indonesia where upgrading has been done. Within the boundaries of the cities are rural villages that are neither squatter settlements nor slums by official definition. These villages lack the necessary social basic facilities and infrastructure that should be provided by the city authorities. Through urban planning a number of villages are grouped together to what is referred to as Kampung. The Kampungs are subjected to development by laws. (Silas, 1984).

Up to 1975, Indonesia had not established a national housing organization. Provision of housing was by individual families and mostly for owner-occupier. Two types of right to land exist. The customary and the western-based type. The customary right of tenure allows people to rent out land from a land-lord and build a house for own occupation or for commercial purpose. Hence a difference exists between land tenure and house tenure among Kampung members. Any upgrading project intending to offer legal statutory tenure then faces the complications of defining ownership and dealing with several interest groups. Upgrading of these villages was introduced through the Kampung Improvement Programme (KIP). The KIP projects have no tenure component.

Jakarta is the capital city of Indonesia. It has a more thriving economy than Surabaya and attracts a high number of migrants due to job opportunities. Its growth rate as of 1984 stood at 3.99% (Silas 1984). Its good financial state enabled the council to undertake improvement of infrastructure in the Kampungs as part of the development program. This was by improving access roads and public health facilities. The council had a boost from the central government and by 1974 when World Bank got involved in the projects, an estimated 1.2 million people had benefited from improved infrastructure. Additional funding by the bank led to expansion of the upgrading.

The Jakarta approach to upgrading is the formal top down type with little participation from the residents. This reflects the financial stability of the authorities, hence the capacity to dictate projects and to carry them out. The top down approach favors the workings of the World Bank, which prefers sectoral-based type of funding and project identification. (Project planning, formulation and funding lecture notes, 2002).

Surabaya on the other hand, had a growth rate of 2.93% by 1984 (Silas, 1984) and is a relatively poor city with most of the residents engaged in the informal sector. Improvements of the Kampungs dates back to 1924 with the famous sewerage and storm water drain system. Contribution from official authorities is not noted and the success lays in the residents' participation in approving the type of work to be done, carrying out the actual activities and contributing funds. This further led to more systematic improvements on roads and footpaths. Surabaya had a bottom up approach, which was adopted by donors by 1976 to facilitate expansion to several aspects of social services and infrastructure.

The tenure component is not included in the two cities' upgrading. However, there are differences in approach and actors. The KIP aimed at improving urban infrastructure and social services.

#### 2.6.2. Upgrading of Gecekondus in Ankara city of Turkey

Gecekondus is the name given to Informal Settlements in Turkey. It means built over night (Tokman, 1984). Ankara is the capital of Turkey. It has a high proportion of unauthorized settlements that house about 51% of the city's population. The growth of Informal Settlements has several causes:

- Migration as a result of social economic and regional imbalances.
- Good road transport that favour access for settlements spread in the periphery.
- Multiparty government system, with more people participating on political decisions and less pressure on eviction and development control.
- Shortage of housing. Housing is supposed to be provided by the municipality but usually the demand has always been far greater than the supply. Tokman (1984) says that the housing policy was aimed at the government employees and not the low-income groups.

Official demolition of developments without titles in early days was common. In 1924, a demolition law was passed but implementation was difficult due to lengthy court procedure. So the settlements continued to grow. The start of Informal Settlements in Ankara is aided by politicians who support land invasion, illegal sub-divisions and later the lobbying for the provision of services and regularization of properties..

Upgrading in Ankara has tenure security as a major component, and rallying behind political powers to get titles is common. Services are supposed to be connected by the municipality and the voting power of the settlements play a great role in having the needed services. Authorities have over time tried to improve the living standards by site and service schemes targeting those people on marginal lands and by enacting laws to facilitate registration of prior unauthorized sub-divisions. Public participation is through organizing groups for political lobbying, approval of layout plans for relocation and infrastructure development. The actors are residents, local community leaders, politicians, and municipality.

#### 2.6.3. Ismailia upgrading project in Egypt

Ismailia is a city in Egypt that was rebuild after the Israel conflicts in 1967-1974 Arab. Generally, public housing by the government mainly targets the civil servants and accounts for about 20% of the housing stock in the city (Davidson, 1984). Individual family housing and the private sector house development contribute in the provision of housing to the city residents.

Access to land is determined by the availability and the cost. Majority of the private sector prefers land from the formal areas acquired through unapproved sub- divisions. Though officially illegal, it offers some form of security. Land in these sections is very expensive and so is the construction that is dominated by flats. The owners are high-income groups.

Low-income groups access land by invading vacant government land and occupying marginal desert lands. Informal Settlements built in these areas have low quality houses and lack in basic social and infrastructure services. Informal Settlements form 50% of the housing stock in the city (Davidson, 1984).

Upgrading in Ismalia was introduced through a demonstration project. The aim was to find out the best approach to upgrading. Payne (1983) however notes that there is no one best approach as conditions differ from one area to another. The Egyptian Government in partnership with the British Government sponsored the project. The dominant factor in the settlements was unapproved subdivision thus affecting planning and tenure issues and provision and improvement of basic service.

The upgrading project therefore incorporated physical planning, tenure, and provision of infrastructure and social services as packages. The outstanding aspect of this project is the nature of detailed preliminary studies involved to determine people's needs, social economic data and the role and extent of public participation. This kind of approach may not be possible where funds are limited and time is a factor especially in the settlements that are very dynamic. Besides, with all the participation and people's choice of affordable houses, the government's involvement meant insistence on some standards beyond the reach of the common poor (Payne, 1983).

It can then be said that wherever the government is involved tenure component is a priority and standard of planning maters unlike where residents with the help of NGOs work on basic affordable services and infrastructure.

#### 2.6.4. Upgrading project in Lusaka, Zambia

Migration from rural areas to urban centres after independence in Zambia resulted in the government's inability to provide adequate housing. This led to growth of Informal Settlements in Lusaka the capital city. The growth of Informal Settlements increased in such way that by 1972 the government recognized the need of upgrading the existing settlements by giving legal tenure and providing basic service and infrastructure. Tenure process was facilitated by the government's involvement as stipulated in the Second National Development Plan of 1972-76 (Jere, 1984). Having a housing policy allowed the entry of the World Bank that funded the upgrading and the site and service schemes that went hand in hand with the onsite upgrading.

The major packages in Lusaka Informal Settlements upgrading were tenure, planning and infrastructure. Households were to improve their houses incrementally with loans or own funds. Participation in planning, decision-making and implementation of the projects by the beneficiaries was important.

#### 2.6.5. Tondo urban Development Project in Manila-Philippines

Tondo upgrading program is an example of participatory upgrading where tenure component is assured along side provision of basic services. The project was started as an alternative to unsuccessful resettlement programs by the government.

The aim was to have less disruptive projects that were to cost less than "low cost" homes provided in resettlement areas. With tenure security and basic infrastructure provided for, the residents were expected to gradually over time build and improve their own homes. The World Bank funded this project. Despite the long period of nine years it took instead of the expected four years, it is considered a success. It is an appreciation on the incremental role of own house development/improvement under enabling environment especially when the public facilities in terms of infrastructure are brought close to the people (Mit, 2000).

#### 2.7. Overview on upgrading packages

Available literature is very rich on informal settlement upgrading projects. The most interesting aspect about upgrading is the knowledge that it has evolved out of recognition of the poor's own capacity to house themselves against all odds. It also narrows down to authorities accepting that they are incapable of housing the large population in the cities with limited resources available at their disposal. This chapter has tried to trace the development of Informal Settlements from a historical point to the current debate of upgrading.

Though upgrading is a methodology derived from peoples' capacity of improving own shelter and settlements this chapter has traced several actors. The actors differ depending on the upgrading packages introduced in a project. Baross (1990) puts the difference between the formal city and the informal on the development process. The formal starts with planning, servicing building and occupation with a guaranteed secure legal tenure. The informal starts with occupation, building, servicing and then planning with no secure legal tenure guaranteed. Upgrading packages are addressed in the form of physical planning, servicing and secure tenure that lack in the Informal Settlements.

#### 2.7.1. Planning as a package

From the cases given in this chapter, it can be concluded that upgrading packages depend on the actors playing the major role in projects. The only common package is the physical planning. However, the extent of planning is also dependent on actors. Where NGOs and local community are the main actors, planning package is limited to people's identification of their immediate needs and their capacity to meet the needs. When donors and governments are involved, physical site planning is at a higher level with master plans and standards of some kind. This clearly comes out in the Ismalia upgrading project.

#### 2.7.2. Tenure package

Provision of legal tenure in upgrading projects stems from believing that poverty and housing condition can be addressed through legal ownership of property. It is supported by the World Bank and by respective governments whose excuse of not giving services to informal settlers is based on their illegal occupation of land. Almost all projects funded by the World Bank, therefore have a tenure component and so are the projects by governments.

#### 2.7.3. Basic Social Services and Infrastructure

In all the upgrading projects whether from a local perspective or by external actors, the main concern is the availability of basic services. At local level with the help of the NGOs and through community based self-help groups provision of clean water is an identified need together with basic health facilities. Appearance of external funds however widens the scope of needs that can be met at ago. Theses include provision of infrastructure like roads, electricity, drainage systems, schools and hospitals among other things that are beyond the informal settlers' meagre resources. All projects have these components though at different levels.

Payne and Davidson (1983) in "Urban Projects Manual" note that the responsibility of the government should be to all the residents. This has not been the case especially in the illegal housing areas of the poor. Through a demonstration project in Ismalia, they looked at how upgrading should be carried out with a feasibility study, detailed study, developing project options, detailed development proposals and finally project implementation.

This type of upgrading is basically academic in that it goes through formal project phases of feasibility study, main study, identification of beneficiaries, funding agents, and identification of actors. It recommends adequate preparation in terms of feasibility study and site planning in conjunction with the target group is vital if sustainable upgrading is to be realised.

However, this kind of upgrading process can only apply to projects by donor actors. The danger lies in the projects being too professional oriented, expensive and time consuming against the philosophy of adapting to peoples initiative to improve their dwellings and physical condition incrementally. For local NGOs and self-help groups the manual on upgrading is only realistic on the role of participation and the identification of needs and affordable standards of services against imposed standards by officials.

#### 2.8. Conclusion

Third world cities are characterised by rapid urbanization, general poverty and housing policies that keep low -income from residing in the formal parts of the of city. However, the large number of low-income earners and the inability of governments to provide ready affordable housing or serviced land has led to a policy change towards the acceptance of Informal Settlements as part of the city.

Policy makers now appreciate the role played by informal settlers in provision of housing and their 'own initiatives and efforts' to improve housing and services that are hitherto unavailable through formal means. In this recognition upgrading of Informal Settlements was initiated with the aim of improving the settlements living conditions by providing basic social services, infrastructure, site planning and provision of legal tenure. The assumption is that if governments provide those services that individuals cannot have on their own, people's efforts and little income will be concentrated on improving the houses. The government and the people share the responsibility of improving and providing shelter.

Upgrading involves the provision of those services that make the Informal Settlements different from the formal parts of the city. Planning and provision of basic facilities though at different levels and standards is common in all projects. Tenure security is only on those schemes funded by the World Bank and respective governments, for it is a complex exercise that requires institutional backing. Tenure provision is mainly in settlements on government land or when clear policies on land acquisition and housing are enacted as in Zambia and Turkey. Upgrading success depends on people's participation. In most government driven projects, the role of participation is limited to acceptance of physical layouts while on NGOs driven projects, participation could range from identification of project, physical planning of the site to implementation.

Since upgrading is born out of what informal settlers have been doing on their own for survival, it should driven by informal settlers irrespective of the interveners to avoid exaggerated needs, standards and expenses. Upgrading should actually be as incremental as the settlers' efforts to acquire land and consequent development have been. Thus the packages involved should be determined by the settlers and not dictated to them. Authorities should as a matter of priority, revisit those policies and laws that lender settlements informal and make them as accommodating as possible to the needs and means of the low-income groups.

### 3. BACKGROUND TO THE STUDY AREA

#### 3.1. Introduction

This chapter gives an insight to the study area. A broad overview of the location and urbanization process that has given rise to Informal Settlements in Blantyre City will be presented. Land administration issues, the status of land within the city; along side the major actors will be viewed against the current Malawi land policy. It will finally present the two study settlements namely Ndirande and Chirimba from a historical perspective, house development trends, accessibility to basic essential services and the availability of Public Spaces.

#### 3.2. Location

Malawi formerly known as Nyasaland is a long and narrow landlocked country in the south-eastern Africa. It is bordered by Tanzania to north and northeast, Mozambique to the east, south and southwest and Zambia to the west (see map 3-1 below). The country covers 118,480 square kilometres of land of which 20 % is water bodies. The country population in 1998 was approximately 9.8 million with an average growth rate of 1.9 % per annum (NSO, 1998).





Source: http://www.infoplease.com/ce6/world/A085941.html 11/9/2002.

Blantyre City is situated in the southern part of Malawi with an area of 228 square kilometres. It has a history dating back to the time of explorer Dr. David Livingston in 1876 and a population estimated to be 520,000 as of 1999 (Blantyre City Assembly, 1999). Blantyre is older than most of the cities South of Sahara region (Stockholm Partnerships, 08/11/2002). Being the commercial and industrial capital, it is connected to other parts of the country and neighbouring countries by a communication and trans-

portation network. Its early history and development has made Blantyre one of the fastest growing cities in Malawi.

#### 3.3. Rapid urbanization

Malawi is among the world's least developed countries, with most of the population involved in subsistence agriculture in the rural areas (Infoplease, 2002). It has four main urban centres: Blantyre, Lilongwe, Zomba and Mzuzu in order of size. Of the national total population, 15 % reside in urban centres with Blantyre having the highest rate of urbanization of 8.5 % against a national growth rate of 4 % (Blantyre City Assembly, 1999).

The National Statistics Office and estimates from City Assembly give the population figures as being 16,000 in 1947,109,000 in 1966, 219, 000 in 1977, 332, 000 in 1887, 478, 000 in 1998 and 520,000 by 1999 (Blantyre City Assembly Structure plan, 1999) as well illustrated in figure 3.1.Even though other centres have been absorbing population, it is evident that, in each 10 year period Blantyre has had to cater for more than 100,000 persons. The urbanization process is well understood when a comparison of the growth trends of the four major cities is made



Figure 3.1 Population Growth of Blantyre City 1947 to 1999

Blantyre has competed equally with Lilongwe in the last 30 years. Although Blantyre is the commercial and industrial centre, Lilongwe is a capital city where most of the governments offices are situated and hence an employments centre.

Mzuzu, which is located on the central northern part of the country, absorbs migrants from the northern part. This is reflected by the gradual growth it has witnessed over the years. Zomba, which a former capital of the nation, has had a slower growth maybe due to the relocation of the capital to Lilongwe and its close proximity to Blantyre. Table 3-1 below shows the population growth of the four main cities in the last 30 years.

Name of the city.	1966 population	1987 population	1998 population
Blantrye	106,640	331,590	502,050
Lilongwe	45,380	233,980	440,470
Zomba	19,670	42,880	65,920
Mzuzu	8,490	44,240	86,980

Table 3-1 Population of Malawi's main cities

Source. National Statistical Office (NSO) Report, 1987 and 1998.

Since majority of migrants are from rural areas, they come with needs that demand immediate attention like income generating opportunities, housing, medical care, sanitation, and transport among other services. The respective city authorities have failed to meet these needs that include ready housing or serviced land for individual house developments. Blantyre city has had its share of these problems arising from rural migration and natural growth that has led to growth of unplanned settlements, lacking in basic services and infrastructure as elaborated in section below.

#### 3.4. Rise of Informal Settlements

Malawi has an agricultural based economy. The exploits from agriculture have not been extensive for much of it is subsistence farming. Besides, this kind of farming is weather dependent hence the nature of poverty in the rural areas. The little manufacturing and service economy is dominantly in the cities. Poverty in rural areas and employment opportunities in urban centres have led over the years to rural-urban migration. This has led to demand for housing that can be viewed better from a historical perspective.

During the colonial era, housing in Blantyre was no problem for the government-controlled migration. Each employer was to provide housing for his servants within his compound (Chilowa, 1999). For other low-income workers, the villages surrounding the city acted as alternative housing areas with the traditional chiefs then, offering land for housing use. Informal Settlements in this case are areas developed with no development control by virtue of not being planned. Map 3-2 below shows the spread of Informal Settlements in Blantyre City.

With independence, in early 60's the city was opened up for job seekers. The situation in the rural areas was already desperate with low farm incomes, lack of infrastructure, low education and poor living conditions that became strong push factors. This has resulted in less supply of housing units, pragmatic housing policies, and uncoordinated supply of basic services and infrastructure.



Map 3-2 Location of Informal Settlements in Blantyre Source: Blantyre City Assembly Urban Structure plan, 1999.

#### 3.4.1. Short supply of housing and serviced land

The provision of housing and serviced land has been inadequate especially since the 1980s. The need for proper housing in 1977 was 16,015 whereas in 1999 it was 63,380 (See table3-2). People resulted into finding land for housing on their own through the traditional methods of going to the chiefs lead-ing to unplanned settlement development.

Year	Population in Informal	Housing de-	Percentage of the urban population in
	Settlements	mand	the Informal Settlements
1977	65,660	16,015	44.0
1980	98,900	23,548	43.0
1982	163,000	37,907	54.3
1999	285,210	63,380	55.0

Table 3-2 Housing demand between 1977 and 1999 and population percentages in Informal Settlements.
Source: Blantyre City Assembly, 1999 Background Structure Plan Report

#### Source, Duniegre engrisseniorg, 1999 Duckground Struct

#### 3.4.2. Pragmatic Housing Policy

The Government initiated a pragmatic policy where people were allowed to build their own houses according to their means in what was the equivalent of Site and Service Schemes (THA). These are side by side with the rest of the unplanned settlements and have not met housing demand due to the slow rate they are made available. The cost recovery involved is way above the incomes of the low income groups and generally, they hardly differ from the Informal Settlements.

#### 3.4.3. Uncoordinated management and control of Public Land

Most squatted land is the public cum customary land within the city. This is the case because of split management and control of the public land between Blantyre City Assembly and the chiefs. The chiefs tend to illegally allocate or sell land to the people looking for cheaper land and this conflicts with the City's policies and planning strategies leading to informal settlement development.

#### 3.4.4. Uncoordinated supply of basic services and infrastructure

Planning regulations prohibit coordinated supply of infrastructure in unplanned areas with the hope of discouraging Informal Settlements. Even though this is the case, residents always have a way out in getting basic needs. This is done on the basis of affordability and, shrewdness. Those who can afford approach the utility companies for facilities while the utility companies find most clientele in the informal settlement.

Several authorities in Blantyre control implementation of land policy, land administration and management. This has resulted in uncoordinated services and overlap of roles.

#### 3.5. Land Administration

Growth of urban centres is dependent on availability of land, how that land is used and owned. How this land is administered influences the nature and extent of the urban centres growth. The United Nations defines land administration as "the process of determining, recording, and disseminating information about the ownership, value and use of land when implementing land management policies, Economic Commission for Europe 1996,pg 6". In Blantyre, several actors are involved in land administration issues and policy implementation. The main ones are the City Assembly, the Central Government, Malawi Housing Corporation and the Traditional Leaders.

#### 3.5.1. Blantyre City Assembly

Blantyre was declared a Town council in 1897, becoming the first local authority in the country. In 1956, Blantyre and the near- by Limbe centre were joined to become one township and in 1959 the Township became the Municipality of Blantyre and Limbe. The city body in charge of the municipality is referred to as Blantyre City Assembly.

The first Town Planning Act was introduced in 1948. It gave the local authority the mandate of preparing development plans and ensuring that development was carried out according to the plans (City of Blantyre memo: The New Blantyre Civic Centre pg 2-9). However, in due course the Town and Country Planning Act conferred the task of Physical Planning to the Ministry of Lands, Housing, Physical Planning and Surveys. The role of urban planning in Blantyre therefore rested with the Commissioner of Physical Planning in the Central Government (Blantyre City Assembly Urban Structure plan, 1999).

The responsibility of development control remained (and still is) with the City Assembly. Besides it is responsible for the coordination, maintenance of infrastructure, sanitation and provision of basic services.

In 1992, the Commissioner of Physical planning delegated the planning powers to the City Assembly. (Blantyre City Assembly Urban Structure Plan, 1999). At around the same time, the management of Traditional Housing Areas (THA) was removed from Malawi Housing Corporation to The City As-

sembly. THA refers to areas mainly occupied by low in-come earners with no access to formal housing provision.

There are two types of THA identified in Blantyre. The Planned THA, which are the conventional Site and Service and Upgrading Schemes. These were until 1992 under the management of Malawi Housing Corporation. Within these areas one can get a serviced plot and develop a house using locally available materials so long as the layout plan is respected. One does not have to have a building plan, and building is gradual. In the same areas, constructed houses can be allocated through grants that are gradually recovered.

The other type of THA is the unplanned area, normally termed as "Informal Settlements".

Blantyre City Assembly now faces the difficult task of ensuring that housing is provided to all class of people, that development land is availed in a state compatible with planning requirements, that adequate services and infrastructure are provided and maintained. Though these tasks may be shared out with other governmental bodies, it is directly accountable to the state of the city as the planning authority.

#### 3.5.2. Malawi Housing Corporation

Malawi Housing Corporation (MHC) was started in 1963(Office of the President Report, 1993) with the objective of developing houses and housing estates. This is achieved through State sponsored projects and government supported private sector projects. The corporation is the main housing provider for the government employees and private organizations, thus being the implementer of the housing policy with quite a substantial amount of land under its control. Over the years, it has developed low, medium and high-density residential areas that include the THAs. These three categories of housing were found not to be accommodating to the large number of low in-come group that was living in the unplanned areas.

With the aim of addressing unplanned and under-serviced residential areas (traditional areas), the government through MHC introduced the Site and Services Schemes, where by land was set aside, planned and basic services provided for within manageable distances. The beneficiaries were expected to build using local materials. Malawi Housing Corporation had the responsibility of developing infrastructure in these areas until 1992 when the City assembly took up this role.

Blantyre as a fast growing city required very active housing provision methods to meet the demand. This was not the case as the demand kept on rising especially from low-income groups. Between 1971 and 1982 the demand rose from a likely manageable number of 512 plots, to a not easily manageable figure of 10,630 plots (Chome, 2002). Between 1984 and 1992 when City Assembly took over, MHC had not developed any THAs plots within Blantyre apart from 300 houses in the intermediate Traditional Housing Areas (ITHA). Table3-3 below shows a summary of serviced plots and house provided by MHC from 1986 to 1993.

Medium density		High density Permanent		ITHAs		THAs
Houses	Plots	Houses	Plots	Houses	Plots	Plots
32	276	218	50	301	0	0

 Table 3-3 Number of house and serviced plots availed by MHC, 1986-1993

Source: Office of the President and Cabinet Report, 1993.

#### 3.5.3. Central Government

The central government is the overall body in charge of land administration and land management in the country. It formulates the land policy and delegates the implementation to other bodies. For example, housing provision and plot development is delegated to the MHC while planning is delegated to city authorities.

The government however does provide housing to civil servants and statutory bodies besides allocating land to developers. Provision of infrastructure and services is shared amongst several institutions and statutory bodies.

#### 3.5.4. Traditional Leaders

The historical growth of Blantyre presents a picture of a city that has grown in area and population. Blantyre's growth has led to expansion of boundaries to include hitherto rural villages where customary tenure and traditional authority has been dominant. Through the application of statutory laws, these villages became public land under the administration of the Lands and Valuation Department (Blantyre structure plan, 1999). Officially, they are the high-density residential areas referred to as squatter settlements and/or unplanned THAs.

Although the law prohibits the traditional leaders from exercising their authority on land within municipalities, the de facto management still is under them. All access to land and development decisions in unplanned areas is through the traditional chiefs or village heads. These areas house over 70% of the city's Population (Chilowa, 1996).

In Blantyre City, going by type of residential land use and the management, there are two distinct residential areas categories. 1) The formal areas which include the low, medium, high density and the THAs all managed and serviced by the MHC and Blantyre City Assembly (BCA).

2) The unplanned and semi-rural settlements, which are managed by traditional leaders and supposed to be serviced by BCA.

Table 3-4 indicates the authorities in charge of land issues in the main residential categories in Blantyre and the size of population. The existence of several authorities being in charge of land matters is embedded in the various land tenure systems that are found within the city.

#### 3.6. Land Tenure

In the city of Blantyre, three forms of land ownerships are evident. These are the private land, public land and customary land. These are held under different interests namely, freehold, leasehold and customary interests. Freehold and leasehold confer the statutory right to own and use land. Customary tenure on the other hand confers use rights to beneficiaries.
	Authority in charge of	Authority concerned with	Population
Settlement Category	land (de facto)	services delivery	(1999)
Formal planned	МНС	MHC and BCA	169,339
Unplanned (Informal)	Traditional Leaders	BCA	285,210
Semi-rural (Informal)	Traditional Leaders	BCA	64,484

Table 3-4 Main residential categories and the authorities in charge.

Source: Blantyre City Structure Plan, 1999.

#### 3.6.1. Private land

Private land, for the purpose of this study, refers to land held through adjudication of rights by private individuals, companies, incorporated bodies like the Malawi Housing and other institutions. This land is held through freehold or leasehold tenure. This is the formally registered and rateable land over which the City Assembly has planning and development control.

There is however very little control on freehold interests, especially if the holder decides not to develop the land. MHC, one of the major private landholders has freehold interests on all its land. This has led to quite an amount of undeveloped land, in the city, that even the planning authority (BCA) has no access to.

# 3.6.2. Public land

Public land refers to customary land, which is covered by the planning control Act through the extension of the city boundaries. It also includes land acquired from customary land under clause 27 of land Act and individual plots owned by the Ministry of Lands and used for government purposes.

# 3.6.3. Customary land

These are the parcels of land within the city that are public land by application of the Town planning Act and supposedly to be currently under the jurisdiction of Blantyre City Assembly but have remained under the de facto management of the traditional leaders (Blantyre City Assembly Urban Structure plan, 1999). The Chief act states that no Chief has control over land within the city boundary without express authority of the respective local authority. The land Acquisition Act demands that land acquired for government use or for planning purposes should be through actual compensation and resettlement of the affected persons. The government while extending city boundaries to rural villages has done no compensation and resettlement to previous owners under the local leaders. This has led to existence of customary controlled land in Blantyre. These customary lands within the city are referred officially as the informal or squatter settlements.

# 3.7. Land policies

Malawi's government revised land policy was realised for implementation in the year 2002. The policy objective is to promote tenure reforms that guarantee security, instil confidence and fairness in all land transactions. The Ministry of Lands in Malawi is responsible for the overall formulation of the land policy. All other land sector institutions and agencies are to perform their statutory duties in conformity with the Ministry of Lands guidelines.

The planning and development control of land in urban cities remains the responsibilities of the local authorities for formulation as per the structure plans. The policy on the other hand recognizes country

wide the role of traditional leaders. It is however, silent on the working relationships between the traditional leaders and local authorities in urban centres It only recommends for identification and recording for extinguishing of land rights that contravene planning requirements and for clearing third parties interests in planning areas before allocating that land to someone else for development.

As indicated in section 3.4, the spread of Informal Settlements and therefore informal interests is so wide in Blantyre for the implementation of this policy. The policy still proposes to regularize land tenure in the unplanned traditional areas and to provide services and infrastructure. It maintains the old tradition of designated planned areas for low quality housing and for upgrading projects by the local authorities. Planning Act under the implementation of local authorities requires settlements to be planned before development and provision of infrastructures. The policy then does not remove overlap of roles nor does it try to incorporate the initiative of traditional leaders in land management that has seen consistence growth of Informal Settlements over the years.

On the protection of public open spaces the new land policy recommends the registration of all Public Spaces to respective local authorities, community groups, NGOs and agencies that are capable of developing them. To avoid encroachment on these Public Spaces, the policy allows the use of police powers by the planning officers.

Laws and politicians in a country support policies implementation. At times the laws requirements may differ so much from policy statements that the policy becomes difficult to implement. For example, when compensation in an acquired area is not done as required by law, planning and development control in the affected area (as per structure plan) is impossible. In Blantyre land policy requires that no services before planning but the politicians advocate for services to their voters irrespective of policy. This has made policy implementation and development control very difficult and informal growth continues as given in the study settlements.

# 3.8. Study Settlements

This research was done in two Informal Settlements in the city of Blantyre, namely Ndirande and Chirimba. Ndirande is the oldest settlement recorded in the history of informal settlement in Malawi. The location of the two settlements is shown on map 2 above.

# 3.8.1. Ndirande Informal Settlement

Ndirande Informal Settlement is located to the northeast of Blantyre Central Business District and north of Makata Industrial Area at the foot of Ndirande Mountain on its northern part and the Chirimba Industrial area on the northwest. To the south is Ndirande Ring road, which separates it from the formal high density and Traditional Housing Area. It is three kilometres from Blantyre City Centre. As stated earlier, Ndirande is the largest and oldest informal settlement in the city.

By 1870s when the Scottish Mission came to Blantyre, Ndirande was in existence as a collection of six villages under different Chiefs .It had a larger area than today having lost much of it to city projects. The nearness to the Mission had an impact on Ndirande in that villagers were protected against slave trading practiced chiefs. Besides the Mission introduced work for pay to the residents, which was a new phenomenon (Village Head, Ndirande). In the earlier days it was the availability of work within the mission that attracted people to Ndirande.

Though Ndirande became an urban area, it still retained the traditional authority and practice on land access and ownership. This was never interrupted by the introduction of the Planning Control Act. Today, it is the most densely populated settlement in the country with a population estimated over 85,000 (Blantyre City assembly, 1999).

#### 3.8.2. Chirimba Informal settlement

Chirimba is part of a continuous chain of Informal Settlements that are to the north of Blantyre central business area. (See map 2). It is neighboured to the north by the Kameza informal settlement with river Chirimba as boundary between them. On the west is Michiru informal settlement and Nyambandwe on the southeast. To south is Mbayani informal settlement. It is about 6 kilometres from the city centre.

Though not much has been written about Chirimba, the residents claim that it had been in existence since early 1940. It had retained a rural setting due to in accessibility from the city and distance. Even though the government established Chirimba industrial centre in the early 1970s, growth still went on at a slow pace until late 1980s when Zalewa road was opened. Zalewa road connected Chirimba to the City and all other Informal Settlements that had been pushing up from the city. Thus Chirimba has retained a rural setting with the traditional authority in charge. The population of the settlement in 1999 was over 15,000 (Blantyre City Assembly Urban Structure Plan, 1999).

No comprehensive demographic and socio economic study is available. When in 1992, the Malawi Housing Corporation handed over the management of traditional areas to City Assembly; Chirimba was left out (Blantyre City Assembly Urban Structure Plan, 1999). This meant that the traditional authority continued to be in charge of land matters and that there was very little interaction with the formal organizations. At first glance, Chirimba resembles any other medium or high-density formal settlement especially viewed from the Zalewa main road due to the investments done on housing and commercial premises by private individuals.

# 3.8.3. Public facilities in the study Settlements

In every residential place availability of housing and public facilities in terms of services and infrastructure is important. In any normal situation, physical planning of a residential area is supposed to facilitate the flow and installation of these facilities. Though the governments have moral obligation to provide basic services they have always used lack of planning and formal tenure as an excuse to not providing the services in Informal Settlements. While housing and services is dependant on affordability by intended recipients, the governments have been unable to provide them at affordable rates to the low-income groups. The low-income groups then tend to seek for cheaper housing in the Informal Settlements where development is uncontrolled and gradual.

In unplanned settlements of Blantyre house quality and basic infrastructure are on the basis of affordability however, there are facilities that have a strong communal element like solid waste management, health, roads of access, education, security amongst other services that a government should provide and promote. These are the ones that are in adequate in informal settlement.

# 3.8.4. Availability of education and health facilities

Ndirande and Chirimba being Informal Settlements lack adequate educational and health facilities. A good comparison is found in chapter five. The problems range from lack of development and protec-

tion of the available sites, large catchments areas for available services to simply having no facility to cater for different needs.

### 3.8.5. Refuse Collection

The council in its effort to take services in the unplanned areas placed garbage skips in Ndirande and Chirimba. In Chirimba there is only one skip placed within a school compound but near the public market. It is rarely emptied. In Ndirande the two available skips overflow with garbage and dumping in the rivers is common. This has led to disease outbreaks especially cholera (Environmental profile, 2000).

#### 3.8.6. Access Roads

Ndirande and Chirimba are accessible by National roads, which are maintained by the City assembly and central government. Accessibility is a problem with the inner settlements minor roads. These are hardly graded or maintained.

#### 3.8.7. Community organizations

Community groups exist where a group of people reside together. Their role through the leaders is to identify the residents' needs, mobilise the residents and solicit for funds from government's organizations and NGOs for projects implementation.

Ndirande and Chirimba settlements lacks recorded active community groups activities. Technically, the Community Development Committees (CDC) initiated through central government and expected to be people's representatives exist. These committees are supposed to be a go between the community and the City Assembly.

# 3.9. Summary

Majority of the residents of Blantyre live in Informal Settlements. The settlements started as villages managed by traditional leaders and have grown out of the proportion that conventional planning could address. Added to this is the inability of the government and its agents to provide planned serviced land or built houses for the ever-increasing urban population. While this is so, the informal sector is catching up on this deficiency by increasingly being a housing provider by rental units. There is a large number housed and claiming de facto ownership of land in Informal Settlements. This complicates official development control by the City assembly.

What cannot be ignored is the need for improved and maintained basic facilities and infrastructure to improve the living conditions in the settlements. These have nothing to do with individual spaces that de facto rights are protecting; it has to do with community space availability, development and protection for continuous flow of public goods. How well this is to be done is the challenge the City Assembly faces in an area where its input has never been felt before.

Accessibility to land for housing in Informal Settlements of Chirimba and Ndirande, the incremental developments done on individuals plots over time, tenure perceptions and the state of public facilities was established through a study as indicated on the following chapter.

# 4. STUDY METHODOLOGY

# 4.1. Introduction

This chapter details the research methods that were used to collect primary and secondary data. It briefly presents the criteria that were used to select study settlements and the population sampling process. Variables considered in determining tenure perceptions; the development of individual space and the state of Public Space in Informal Settlements are presented.

# 4.2. Field Process

The objective of this research is to investigate the evolvement and development of Informal Settlements. This is done in three stages.



**Figure 4.1 Research Field Process** 

The first is the use of qualitative data to help establish the informal settlers perceptions on tenure and how these perceptions influence the development of the individual's house on the own plot. This will be accomplished by use of non-spatial data collected through interviews on household heads, local leaders, utility providers and government agents.

The second stage involves spatial data analysis using aerial photographs of 1987, 1990 and 1998, to establish the spatial growth of the settlements over time and the state and availability of Public Spaces.

Thirdly, secondary data in form of maps, memos, physical plans reports, available relevant literature on Informal Settlements and other research data will be used to complement the findings of stage one and two. Figure 4.1 above summarizes the stages of field research.

# 4.3. Selection of study settlements

Informal Settlements have profound differences resulting from their historical background, different development stages and their location. This study was done in two settlements selected to give both cross-section and longitudinal data for the analysis of evolvement and continuous developments.

The objective was to have different settlements in terms of time and location which are subjected to the same official views and policies and replicate common aspects in their development, thus providing a base for generalizing the phenomenon of informality in the municipality.

The two settlements selected are Ndirande and Chirimba. Ndirande, which is the oldest settlement in Blantyre, is closest to the CBD and still remains unplanned with land being administered by village head. Chirimba is further from the CBD and started later than Ndirande and remains unplanned with village head in charge of land matters.

# 4.3.1. Criteria used for settlement selection

#### a). Historical background

The people that start a settlement determine who occupy, the mode of accessibility to land, level and pattern of development and service provision. The two settlements selected have the same background of rural villages controlled and administered by traditional leaders.

#### b). Age of settlement

It is assumed in that age of a settlement will have a bearing on perceived tenure (Payne, 1997) and therefore the consolidation levels, development pattern and service provision. The settlements selected are of different ages as recorded in available literature.

#### c). Distance to central business district (CBD)

CBD's by being commerce and administration centres attract investments that are commercial and industrial thus offering job opportunities. To determine what other factors may influence the growth of a settlement, the selected settlements are located at different distances from the CBD.

#### d). Recent Government infrastructure investments

A new development though not targeted on the settlement is expected to have a profound aftermath on the choice and development pattern of an existing settlement. Chirimba, which is one of the selected study settlements, had an industrial centre constructed near by in the early 1970s and later a major road traversed through it in late 1980s.

#### e). Existence of public facilities

The availability of public facilities like hospitals, schools, roads, recreation spaces among others influence the general pattern of development, the flow of public goods and therefore the choice of a settlement for residential purpose. Though it was difficult to tell the type of facilities available, aerial photographs were used to determine spaces that looked vacant and those that had development other than residential.

### f). Utility provision

Essential services like water, electricity and telephone are prohibited by government policy in an attempt to discourage growth of unplanned settlements. The availability of these services against prohibitive policy will determine the development of an area. The two settlements selected are exposed to the same government policy on provision of services but have managed to have access to these services.

# 4.4. Data sources and method of inquiry

The research questions were answered through the collection of both primary and secondary data. Primary data was done using semi-structured interview with open-ended questions with household, village heads and different officials as shown on table 4-1 below.

Source	Respondent	No. of interviews
Ndirande Settlements	Households	25
	Village heads	1
Chirimba Settlement	Households	25
	Village heads	1
Utility companies officials	Blantyre water board	1
	Electricity supply commission	1
Government officials	City Assembly Roads Engineer	1
	City Assembly Physical Planner	1
	Community Officer	1
	Commissioner of lands	1

#### Table 4-1 Sources of data and respondents

# 4.4.1. Household interviews

Preparation and actual undertaking of household interviews was done in phases. These included first the engagement of a research assistance who understood the local dialect and was familiar with the research methods.

The research touched on land and land ownership that is a sensitive issue and required the authority of the local leaders for it to be undertaken. The local leaders are referred to as village heads and were visited by the research team in their residences for permission to work in their settlements. Permission was sought for both pilot interviews and actual interviews. A pilot interview was done in settlements adjacent to the study areas. The purpose was to test the applicability of the questionnaire which was designed with closed and open-ended questions. It was to identify likely problems, obstacles and solutions where necessary.

The pilot was therefore going to test if the research instrument would provide the necessary information to answer the research questions and if there were weakness and omissions. With the large number of questions that were intended to be covered, it was necessary to determine time spent per respondent and the usefulness of coded answers. The material collected in the pilot was evaluated and observations and lessons learned were used to modify the questionnaire to the one shown in Appendix 1.

#### 4.4.2. Sampling

The actual interview was administered to 25 households in each settlement. The time available and the mapping that was later to be done in the analysing stage determined the size of the settlement and the number of interviews. The sampling points from the entire settlement were selected through stratified random sampling. The sampled households' locations are shown in maps 4-1 and 4-2.

The sample size was determined through systematic sampling. Orthophotos of the study area taken in 1990 at a scale of 1:2,500 were acquired. This was divided into segments by drawing grid lines at a distance of 100 meters apart. A 100 meter distance gave a convenient number of points to sample from which were not less or many for the areas under consideration. The intersections points of the grid lines were numbered and the map coordinates were noted down. These coordinates were corrected to reflect the Global Positioning System (GPS) coordinates. From these points, the sample size of 25 was to drawn. Due to the large number of listed points a decision was made to enter into the GPS only coordinates of old point numbers (intersections) unless that point seemed to be on a road, river or Public Space. See appendix 2 and 3.

The assumption was that at every recorded intersection there was a dwelling house and if not the next point was considered. Where a dwelling was locked or the head of the household was absent, a next house was selected by use of a clockwise movement at every quarter of an hour position. The respondents were household heads as understood by the people of Malawi and could either be tenants or (structure) owners and it did not matter whether it was a man or woman for as long as they could answer the questions.

The GPS was used to locate the households that fell at entered intersections. The advantages of the use of GPS were:

- It reduced the element of bias in the selection of the sample units as it limited any tendency of picking households that were more accessible or those that could more easily provide the information sought in the questionnaire.
- Made decision making easy on the next sample to be visited.
- Locating the sample unit by giving direction and distance.
- The best part of it is that we never had to explain how we decided on a household.

We only had to tell residents that the machine directed as it had records of all houses within a distance of 100 meters from each other. In a settlement where people are suspicious and very sensitive about their private lives, this method turned out to be the best because it removed any feelings of selections with a motive from the respondents. No question of who referred whom to whom. More so the residents were so excited with the GPS that they gave the information in a relaxed manner. The GPS use set the right mood for the interviews.

#### 4.4.3. Village heads and officials interviews

Focused interviews were done with the village heads. The aim was to seek more insight into issues mentioned during household interviews, cross check information and to collect missing data. Officials from utility companies and government officers were interviewed lastly after preliminary analysis of the field results in order to clarify and confirm issues raised by house heads and village heads. The questionnaires used are in appendix 4,5 and 6.

#### 4.4.4. Spatial data

The development of the settlements over time was analysed from aerial photographs of 1987, 1990 and 1998 for Chirimba and 1990 and 1998 for Ndirande. These were the only ones available at the time of research. The variables considered are shown in figure 4.2 below.



**Figure 4.2 Spatial Data Processing** 

The indicators considered for the perception of tenure included the increase of buildings over time. In an area where tenure perception is low, the spatial growth of the settlement will be lower as people fear being there. Incremental development was determined by the size of the house, quality, improvements done at specific periods and any additional investments in form rental units.

The state and security of Public Spaces was considered through the existence and development level of those that facilitate provision of basic services and infrastructure.

Maps 4-1 and 4-2 show the ground position of households that were interviewed while figure 4-3 on page 38 summarizes the research methodology.



Map 4-1 Ndirande sampled house holds Source : Field data, September, 2002



Map 4-2 Chirimba sampled house holds Source: Field data, September 2002

# 4.5. Research Methodology: Field



Figure 4.3 Research Methodology

# 5. Analysis

# 5.1. Introduction

This Chapter presents the findings of the research as undertaken in chapter 4. The non-spatial data analysis shows how land is accessed and gradually developed with necessary infrastructure being connected to households. The spatial data analysis presents the increase of buildings for residential purpose over time, spaces available for public purpose and the developments in these spaces.

# 5.2. Land Accessibility and evolvement of Informal Settlements

The government through the ministry of lands officially owns all Land in Malawi. It is the government that decides who owns what, size, purpose, where and how that land is developed (Malawi Land Policy). This is the ideal situation. In its decision on how to share out land to different individuals, companies, organizations and institutions the government has agents like planners, land officers and surveyors. Allocations are therefore to be systematic with planning prior to any development. This method gives two categories of ownership. Private land that is registered to individuals and Public land that is government.

Government is supposed to ensure that urban residents are housed in decent serviced houses. It does this directly, through parastatals mandated to construct houses or by creating an environment conducive to individual private house developments. In Blantyre, like all other cities of Malawi, the government has delegated the housing responsibility to Malawi Housing Corporation (MHC).

MHC however, over the years has not been able to supply housing to all the residents and especially the low-income groups. Its inability is so much that about 67% of Blantyre's population is housed outside the formal MHC areas (Matope, 2000).

While the MHC is not delivering as expected, the government agents responsible for delivery of serviced land to private house developers have not been successfully doing so. It is therefore a situation of lack of ready to occupy houses and lack of planned and or serviced land.

#### What has been the alternative?

As presented on Chapter three, Blantyre grew in the neighbourhood of existing traditional villages, the nearest being Ndirande. By extension of boundaries it included far ones like Chirimba. These villages headed by traditional leaders with village headmen<sup>1</sup> in every cluster of settlement always had their customs on land distribution. These are the customary areas, unplanned and therefore informal where land for housing is easily accessible without having to follow the planning and development controls. The research established that the people moving into the Informal Settlements are mostly new migrants from the rural areas.

Out of 25 respondents in Ndirande 17 (68%) had come from the rural areas and 19 (76%) were seeking employment. Chirimba had 20 (80%) out of 25 respondents as migrants from rural areas with 19

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The interview respondents often refer to village headmen as chiefs

INTERNATIONAL INSTITUTE FOR GEO-INFORMATION SCIENCE AND EARTH OBSERVATION

(76%) having come to search for employment. These are the poor needing cheap housing that is only available in the Informal Settlements.

#### 5.2.1. Access to land for housing in unplanned settlements

4 out of 16 respondents in Ndirande, got land through chief's direct allocation, 7 bought from individuals who owned land while 5 inherited from relatives. (See table 5-1).

Mode of access to land for housing						
Number of respondents in Number of respondents						
Mode	Ndirande	Chirimba				
Free allocation by chief	4	3				
Buying from individual	7	8				
Inheritance	5	4				
Buying from Chief	0	5				
Total	16	20				

Table 5-1 Means of acquiring Land

Source: Field data, September 2002.

Ndirande is the oldest settlement and closest to the CBD. The number of respondents that got land from the chief is lower than that of buyers indicating the decrease of available land for free allocations. The settlement has a high number of second and third generations as reflected by the percentage of those who have inherited land.

In Chirimba as shown in table 5-1, of the 20 respondents (who own land and house), 3 got land through normal traditional chief's allocations, 8 bought from other land owners, 4 inherited while 5 indicated that they bought land at market value from the chief.

Land buying from individuals is dominant in Chirimba. Unlike Ndirande, some respondents have bought from the chief against the tradition of free allocation. This could be an indication of erosion of the customary norms and creeping of corruption with the increase of land value. During the interviews with households, respondents reported the area chief's trend of selling public land that was supposed to be under the council for development of schools, market, hospital, police post, and post office.

The chief explained the high occurrence of sale of land in Chirimba as a result of the second generation having to sell land to improve their dwellings. That is the reason they give when they approach the chief for authority to sell a sub-plot of what they have inherited from their parents.

The chief put it this way "the growth of the City and demand for land for housing led to commercialisation of land in Chirimba with sons of the first residents sub-dividing land and selling it to improve their houses (Village head Mwachande)". Both Chirimba and Ndirande chiefs indicated that they now witness more land sales, as there is no more land to be allocated. They however pointed out that sales are more with the buyers than the original allottees. Figure 5.1 shows the means of getting land in both Ndirande and Chirimba presented as percentage of the total respondents in each settlement.





Source: Field data, September, 2002.

#### 5.2.2. Interest on Land for housing

From the research it was clear that most people go to the settlements with the intention to own land for development. Table 5-2 shows the percentage and number of the respondents who are owners of their dwelling against those respondents who are tenants. Few respondents indicated the wish of ever moving out of the settlements. The tenants are therefore living in the hope of consolidating their resources to buy land and build own homes. A settlement like Chirimba, which is still more spacious, may attract those willing to buy for own housing.

	Ndirande Settlement		Chirimba Settlement		
Interest	No. of respondents	Percentage	No. of respondents	Percentage	
Owner	16	64	20	80	
Tenant	9	36	5	20	
Total	25	100	25	100	

#### **Table 5-2 Interest on Land**

#### 5.2.3. Settlements attraction

Further need for ownership is indicated in the choice of settlement for housing. When asked what attracted the respondents to Ndirande settlement, 40 % indicated near work place as the reason with 20 % having considered availability of affordable land (see figure 5.2). In Chirimba, 44% considered the availability of affordable land while 28% considered near work place. This is the opposite of Ndirande and could be explained by the fact that there is still more land for sale in Chirimba than Ndirande.



Figure 5.2 Factors considered on settlement choice.

#### Source: Field data, September 2002.

Although the data collected from households did not bring out the impact on the construction of a trunk road through Chirimba, the Chief pointed out that before the road much of Chirimba was bush and gullies. After the road construction buyers came in and put up some of the best residential houses and commercial enterprises. Chirimba viewed from the main road resembles any medium and high-density formal area due to the quality of developments. The road also led to an increase in land prices and to more land sub-divisions (Village head, Mwachande).

# 5.2.4. Status of land at acquisition

Further insight on how people acquire land and how the settlements have continued to grow is provided by information collected on the status of land at acquisition. Of the respondents who own their houses, 62.5 % of Ndirande respondents and 80% of Chirimba got their land as vacant plots. A number of those that acquired land and developments, reported having demolished the old structures they bought to put up new and better houses.

All respondents in both settlements have had a land relationship with the Village Chief. This is during the allocation period or when buying the land. Though in Ndirande, developments from 1995, when multiparty politics came into being have been reported to political party officials, it is optional. Chiefs have to record all developments in the village register for only they hold the right to burial sites (Chome, 2002). Figure 5.3 shows how Informal Settlements evolve from existing traditional villages with the chief allocating land or monitoring new developments through sales or inheritance that ensures security of ownership to new home developers.



Figure 5.3 Evolvement of Informal Settlements and relationships that exist

#### 5.3. Tenure security perceptions

Respondents in the two settlements did not express insecurity in the form of ownership they have on land. The reasons they cite for the confidence is the procedures they followed when acquiring land. The village head awareness and one's neighbours are sufficient prove of ownership. They simply could not imagine any government removing them from the settlements nor did they indicate ever wishing the council as a development authority controlling them.

In a later interview with the physical planner, he reported that officials of the council are received with either open hostility or suspicion. Residents are not interested in official intervention in land ownership and development. Figure 5.4 shows to which authorities developments are reported.





The lower number of people reporting development to the chief in Ndirande does not mean that the chief did not know the respondents as property holders. Having gone through the chief to acquire land

respondents saw no reason to further report developments. On the other hand Chirimba shows a higher number of chiefs involvement because of the vibrant land sales.

When questioned on intentions to ever move out of the current settlements the results were as shown on figure 5-5 and 5-6 in the next page. 80% of the respondents in Chirimba indicated no intentions of moving out. The 20% who were uncertain said their stay in Chirimba depended on their jobs. Investments in permanent home were given as an indicator of the wish to remain in the settlement. In Ndirande, 4% of the respondents were certain to move while 28% were uncertain with 68% declaring Ndirande their permanent home.



Figure 5.5 Chirimba's households intentions



In the two settlements the Chiefs were of the opinion that titling is a luxury of the rich and not a concern of the majority of residents. Chome (2002) reports that though residents in Informal Settlements do not feel insecure without formal titles, those who have invested a lot often seemed to want additional formal tenure security through titling. None of the chiefs indicated having residents question the non-existence of titles nor do people discuss how to get titles. According to the chief the properties are owned in a bidding manner and the government should spend money on provision of basic services rather than in a titling programme.

#### 5.4. Incremental development

If poor people are left on their own with their own resources, without any threat of eviction, they improve their dwellings overtime (Angel, 1983). This research found out that household development is a continuous exercise. In most cases, a dwelling house is put up and inhabited with some of the finishing not yet done. Building materials could be semi-permanent but later improvements that include getting connected to basic infrastructure such as water and electricity are done. Photograph 5-1I and 5-2 below shows houses that are occupied while improvement and extension are done gradually. Table 5-3 indicates the physical and socio-economic characteristics for Chirimba and Ndirande respondents.





Photo 5.1 Ndirande

Photo 5.2 Chirimba

#### 5.4.1. Improvements on the physical housing structure

From table 5-3 it seems that most houses have their roofs done by iron sheet from the very beginning. This could be so because in an urban set-up thatching grass may be difficult to get. However, there are still houses that were thatch roofed but later got iron sheets roofs. Those without have the owners intending to do so in future.

	Number of respondents per aspect	Ndirande	Chirimba
Item			
1	Male household heads	15	22
2	Female household heads	10	3
3	Household owner occupiers	16	20
4	Household tenants	9	5
5	Income above K5000	3	15
6	Income below K5000	22	9
7	Formal employment	14	13
8	Informal employment	4	4
9	Self-employment	5	6
10	Temporary employment	2	2
11	Corrugated roof	25	23
12	Grass roof	0	2
13	Burnt bricks wall	7	10
14	Unburnt bricks wall	18	15
15	Cement floor	20	20
16	Earth floor	5	5
17	Kiosks water use	22	16
18	Own tap water connection	3	9
19	Electricity Pit latrines	8	12
20	Pit latrines	25	23

Table 5-3 Physical and socio-economic characteristics for Chirimba and Ndirande

The permanent material for house construction in Malawi is burned bricks. A building with unburnt bricks that later gets its walls plastered is also considered to be a permanent. (Chilowa, 2000). In the two settlements a large number of houses are made of unburnt bricks walls, which explains the big number of respondents intending to improve on wall in the future.

The research found out that most of the houses in the two settlements have cemented floors. (76% of the households interviewed in Chirimba and 80% of those in Ndirande). Improving the floor of the houses was also mentioned as one of the intentions by a number of those whose floors were not yet cemented as indicated in table 5-4.

	No. of houses	improved in	Houses intended for improved		
	last 10 years.		in next 10 years		
House Characteristics	Chirimba	Ndirande	Chirimba	Ndirande	
Roof	3	1	2	1	
Wall	2	2	9	6	
Floor	4	3	9	5	
Additional rooms	3	4	16	9	
Electricity connection	6	2	11	4	
Water connection	5	1	11	2	
Telephone connection	1	0	2	0	
Toilets.	2	1	2	1	

#### Table 5-4 House Improvements and intentions

#### Source: Field data September, 2002.

By having a look at the data on roof, walls and floor, the settlements can be said to be more permanent than one would be expect of Informal Settlements where the poor reside. They differ in no way from those in the THAs (Blantyre City Assembly Urban Structure plan, 1999). Viewed from the main tarmac road, Chirimba does not look like the conventional picture of informal settlement besides having buildings of different sizes, type, finishing and varying in connection to infrastructure. It is all "on site" incremental development like the chief said, older residents sell their land to improve their houses while new ones start by small houses that are extended with time.

#### 5.4.2. Connection to basic infrastructure

In the last 10 years, a number of households have had electricity and water connection. In the next 10 years, a large number of them intend to have water and electricity especially in Chirimba as the table 5-4 above shows.

The assumption has always been that basic infrastructures like water and electricity may not be in the informal settlement due to existing policy by central Government and City Assembly of no delivery before planning. However, water and electricity were found in a number of households. Out of 25 interviewed, 12 used electricity for lighting in Chirimba which 48% of the sample population while in Ndirande was 28%.

What came out of the interview with Electricity Supply Commission of Malawi (ESCOM) was that electricity is supplied to all residents no matter where they are as long as they can afford it. ESCOM is not obliged to follow existing policies of non-supply to unplanned areas as they feel those policies

have been overtaken by time. Most of their potential clients are increasingly in the unplanned settlements. Besides, the composition of the residents in unplanned settlements is such that some of the senior government officers and citizens reside there and cannot be denied services. (See photograph 5-3 and 5-4). Furthermore, the residents use politicians to push their requests when denied as reported by ESCOM official.



Photo 5.3 Ndirande

Photo 5.4 Chirimba

The photographs above show a mixture of house quality in the settlements. The section of Ndirande in photo 5-3 shows electricity lines in the background and modern houses next to temporary ones while in Chirimba modern houses that will later be connected with electricity and water are being put up.

To reach the very poor of the settlers in unplanned settlements, ESCOM has embarked on a pilot scheme in Mbayani whereby electricity is connected to thatch roofed houses made of unburned bricks and could even be of one or two rooms. The wiring system has been simplified to a one-board socket connection. Development control officers from City Assembly physical planning department however, do not view this kind of development favourably. An officer interviewed sees this as a violation of building standards where to him security of the households is compromised in case of a fire while informality is being encouraged.

The Blantyre Water Board (BWB) operates on the basis of the level of income of its clients. Like ESCOM, BWB supplies water on the basis of affordability. But to make sure that they reach all their clients in the unplanned settlements and considering different levels of income, they apply a group 'pooling' policy. In this policy either the individuals, BWB or City Assembly, take water to strategic points in the settlements. It's under this policy that community water kiosks<sup>2</sup> operate. They are considered a cheaper method of supply. Besides, those that can afford private direct lines to their compounds are encouraged to do so.

The field interviews show a wide difference in the improvements done on water supply and the intended ones between Chirimba and Ndirande. In Chirimba, of the 25 interviewed household, 5 had water connected in the last 10 years, 11 expect to connect water in future; while in Ndirande only 1 had water connected and 2 intend to do so. These differences are well shown in table 5-3 and 5-4 above.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Water Kiosks are communal portable water points constructed with one or more water taps where the public draws water at a price.

INTERNATIONAL INSTITUTE FOR GEO-INFORMATION SCIENCE AND EARTH OBSERVATION

In Ndirande, Community water supply is very popular unlike Chirimba. The reasons could be due to community water supply done in Ndirande. In 1999, UNICEF (United Nations Children Education Fund) did a settlement wide construction of water Kiosks. Each water kiosks is 200 metres away from the other giving a very convenient supply that does not necessitate private connection. Respondents in Ndirande wondered why they should spend money on house connections when water was all over and in plenty. In addition to UNICEF, Malawi Social Action Fund (MASAF) a government organization has added more community water kiosks in the area.

In Chirimba, at the time of the interview, only six kiosks were said to be communal with the rest being private. No wonder most residents of Chirimba have tried to have water connected to their homesteads and others still plan to do so. The level of supply of the basic infrastructure influences incremental development by households through prioritising their immediate needs.

In these two settlements developments towards one dwelling unit is continuous and it extends to commercialisation of housing by building rental units. Thus we have tenants and landlords all who have various common needs besides housing. These are the basic social facilities that can hardly be availed by an individual. They include education, health, sewerage, waste collection, security, and access roads among others. These facilities are found in designated Public Spaces.

# 5.5. Public Space perceptions

The Informal Settlements are being developed and improved overtime. However living standards are still poor especially viewed at a higher level than the household. It is in the availability and development of the most basic public facilities that this poverty is more prominent. Every settlement requires, roads that are motorable, schools, health centres, security through law enforcement, trading centres, play grounds, worship places, burial spaces among others. Basic social services and facilities supplement and compliment individual households efforts.

inqueney of a summer of a serie spaces.							
	Chi	Chirimba Settlement		Ndirande Settlement			
Type of facility	Fair state	Poor state	Total	Fair state	Poor state	Total	
Public School	3	22	25	12	13	25	
Public hospitals	0	25	25	5	20	25	
Cemetery	25	0	25	25	0	25	
Roads (motorable)	2	23	25	4	21	25	
Markets	0	25	25	25	0	25	
Religious places	25	0	25	25	0	25	
Public play grounds	0	25	25	0	25	25	
Public water points	8	17	25	25	0	25	

Frequency of availability	and state	of Public	Spaces.
---------------------------	-----------	-----------	---------

#### **Table 5-5 Perceptions of Public Spaces/Facilities**

Source: Field data, September 2002.

Respondents in the settlement were quick in declaring Public Spaces as important or very important. In Chirimba 16 out of 25 find Public Spaces very important while 9 say they are important. Perception on Public Spaces being very important in Ndirande was by 7 and important by 18 respondents. Chirimba

chief reported hospital as the place where live in the settlements is taken care off while schools are the future of the settlement. The respondents were requested to give a general view on the condition of facilities, the availability or the quality of service in Public Space. Table 5-5 summarises the results of the interview with households on public facilities. Religious places and cemetery were satisfying but the problem was in the availability and state of hospitals, schools market, roads and play grounds.

# 5.5.1. Health facilities

From table 5-5 the difference in public facilities investments comes out clearly for the two settlements. In Chirimba there is no single public hospital. The nearest treatment is about 15 kilometres away. In Ndirande, most respondents have low opinion of public health because of the congestion and shortage of drugs (reported in the field). Lack of small health facilities within the settlement, rather than a central hospital that caters for all the Informal Settlements was reported as a problem to health.

# 5.5.2. Public schools

The state of public schools was reported as poor due to congestion in all the primary schools. The shortage is in both settlements and it is for both under age, primary, secondary and technical institutions. Students in primary schools learn under trees or in the open sky, sitting on the floor and using their laps to place writing material. This was observed in Chirimba in the course of the interviews. This is so even though there is a Public Space big enough for developing both primary and secondary streams. Instead very little development has been done over the years and the chief for other developments is selling the land. Residential houses being used as secondary schools and technical training purposes were observed. In Ndirande students go to class in shifts (reported by respondents).

# 5.5.3. Public Markets

Both settlements have a council market. Ndirande market is big; well constructed with sheds while in Chirimba every respondent was negative about the state of the market that they say is very congested, with no sheds and gets flooded. A number of businesses are done outside the market on the roadsides extending into the school compound even when the outside learning is on session.

# 5.5.4. Roads of access

The state of the roads was reported as poor in the two settlements. This is more with the access roads in the settlements. The City Assembly department that is in charge of roads maintenance was of the opinion that under the given circumstances of wide spread Informal Settlements the council has been doing its best. Grading and other services are given on an annual schedule that covers all the areas in the settlement. Respondents maintained that they are not graded as required and only during presidential visits and campaigns of which the city Engineer sees as part of service under constrained resources and political pressure. Ndirande respondents complained of buildings on the road. The water Board overcomes lack of clear access while laying water pipes by requesting interested users to acquire accesss from neighbours by signing an agreement witnessed by area chief.

#### 5.5.5. Waste management

The interview revealed several ways of managing household waste and the minimal role the council plays. In Chirimba the council has one solid waste skip at the market, which no household reported to have used. Most residents' use private garbage pits located in their compounds as indicated in figure 5-7. A number of the respondents burn their solid waste as others dump in the rivers and by roadside.



#### Figure 5.7 Chirimba disposal means

#### Figure 5.8 Ndirande disposal means

Ndirande residents on the other hand have two skips and waste disposal methods are as shown by figure 5-8. While residents have tried to manage household waste the council has failed them at settlement level by not emptying the skips giving rise to heaps of waste by the roadside as indicated by photograph 5-5. The council has failed to curb disposal into rivers even though the UNICEF water project of 1999 included the cleaning of the river. Photograph 5-6 shows the extent of waste disposal in the rivers in Ndirande.

The community officer in the City Assembly's office reported the annual occurrence of cholera in Ndirande even though water supply is no longer seen as the main problem. Lack of waste management at settlement level where all residents use pit latrines and where flooding occurs frequently was mentioned as the reason why the fight against cholera is low by both residents and the chief. Ndirande and Chirimba have no sewerage connections.



Photo 5.5 Roadside dumping Photo 5.6 River dumping

Residents perceived shortage of Public Spaces and under development as settlement problems that need to be addressed by public or local authorities. Public Spaces tenure security was given as insecure for future settlements needs. The respondents were requested to indicate their development priorities if something were to be done at community level. Figure 5-9 below show the respondent's priorities choice in the two settlements.

In Chirimba, most respondents would prefer to have a hospital first as there is none at the present. They would wish the council to expand the current market and to construct well-roofed stands for traders. The improvement of schools came third even though this is one area where students take lessons under the open sky.

In Ndirande most respondents would wish to have the health facility improved by having smaller clinics set in the settlement. Development by expansion of the current schools and setting up of new ones was indicated as a second priority while grading and maintenance of roads came third.

The availability of Public Spaces and the type of development done was further indicated through spatial temporal analysis of the settlements under study.



Figure 5.9 Development priorities in the settlements

#### 5.6. Spatial temporal changes in the settlement

The spatial growth and pattern both at household and settlement level were viewed from a macro level by use of aerial photographs as described in chapter four. The increase in number of buildings for residential use was noted and the negative and positive changes that have taken place on existing Public Spaces. Spatial changes are supported by household interviews and information from village heads.

The two-time series analysis done for Ndirande revealed that by 1990 the settlement was densely populated as shown in Map 5-1. About 4000 structures were captured of which 3950 are residential. In an area where over 3000 households are, the development of Public Space is shown to be very minimal with only one public primary school and the rest of the services being found in the neighbouring sections of the settlement. Ndirande has public land reserved for institutional purpose but due to under development and lack of protection residential houses and commercial buildings are slowly being put up.

### 5.6.1. Spatial Temporal Series Maps Of Ndirande And Chirimba



# Map 5-1 Buildings and Public Spaces in Ndirande in 1990 Source: Produced from aerial photo of 1990.

		-	-		-
Year	Total no.	Residential	Commercial	School	Church
	of build-	buildings	buildings	buildings	buildings
	ings				
1990	4000	3950	35	7	8
1998	5637	5585	36	11	5

Ndirande 1990 to 1998 developments as captured from aerial photos.

#### Table 5-6 Building increase in Ndirande

Ndirande population has continued to increase as indicated by the increase in number of buildings captured from aerial photo for 1998. Of the total structures 5585 are residential yet the school buildings have not increased substantially nor have other basic services been put up on the Public Space available. Table 5-6 shows a break down of the developments as analysed for year 1990 and 1998 while map 5-2 shows the spatial pattern for 1998.

The increase in population has led to congestion in Ndirande and although infill through sub-divisions and construction of rental facilities may have contributed, residents claimed there are numerous buildings on road reserves through allocations by political party chiefs. Analaysis for years1990 and 1998 indicate that although developments on institutional public land has not been explosive with 52 residential structures in 1990 to 70 in 1998, constructions on road reserve is on the increase.



Map 5-2 Buildings and Public Spaces in Ndirande in 1998 Source: produced from aerial photo of 1998.

By 1990, 7 structures were on road reserve but by 1998, there were over 300 structures on road reserve resulting to closure of some road segments as shown on map 5-3. The protection of Public Spaces is the responsibility of the local chief. In Ndirande the chief blamed the erosion of chief's authority by various political regimes as the contributor to the illegal developments now coming up more so with the introduction multi party system in 1995 where authority on who was in charge of what was not clear. Some respondents in this settlement claimed to have reported development to the political party head. The chief is of the opinion however that the developments are illegal and should not stop any development project from being undertaken.

Chirimba had for so long remained a sparsely populated settlement until the main tarmac road known as Zalewa road (Office of the President report, 1993) to Lilongwe was constructed. According to the village head, Chirimba was mainly bush with gullies that discouraged development. The passing of the road through the place however, changed everything at around the time the city was growing tremendously. Many people came in after 1987 when the road was officially opened. Between 1987 and 1990, residential buildings increased by about 60%, which could be credited to the opening of the tarmac road. The increase has continued as indicated by table 5-7 while maps 5-4, 5-5,5-6 and 5-7 shows the spatial temporal changes in the settlement.



Map 5-3 Buildings on road in Ndirande in 1998 Source: Field data, September 2002.

Year	Total no.	Residential	commercials	School	religious	Under	Residential
	of build-			buildings		5	on Public
	ings					clinic	Space
1987	954	933	8	9	1	2	38
1990	1562	1532	12	9	1	2	60
1998	2259	2226	16	10	4	2	123

Table 5-7 Building Increase in Chirimba over time



Map 5-4 Chirimba informal settlement 1987



Map 5-5 Chirimba 1990



Map 5-6 Chirimba 1998



Map 5-7 Chirimba developments on Public Space 1998

City Assembly officials admitted that they have not been able to enforce development control in the area nor do they know the extent of what should be public land. The chief while claiming that the allocations were by predecessor however said the government is to blame for not developing the land for the purpose it was for.

In 1987, 38 structures on what is Public Space were residential. Chirimba is one of the settlements that were acquired by the government and allocated to MHC for development without prior compensation to the locals who never moved out. The 38 dwellings may have been for the original resident. The 1990 aerial photo showed an increase to 60 residential structures while that of 1998 gives 123 structures. The increase of residential buildings by 1998 is supported by the claim made by residents on sale of public land by the chief. The Public Space is portrayed as very insecure.

# 5.7. Statistical Analysis

Descriptive and spatial analysis done in the previous sections have identified several main variables. The variables explain evolvement, development of Informal Settlements, land tenure security perceptions and the state of Public Spaces. These variables include means of acquiring land, interest on land, settlement attraction, incremental development and Public Space perceptions. The conclusions made have not been compared to results that could arise from further statistical analysis in a detailed manner. This is because the research was designed for qualitative data and the sample size is too small to infer into meaningful quantitative statistical analysis.

Bivariate analysis was applied to test some of the variables relationships. For example, a correlation between means of acquiring land and status land during acquisition period had a strong positive relationship of r = .599 in Ndirande. This relationship is not there in Chirimba. In the two settlements, means of acquiring land, though weakly, correlates positively with income (r = .281 for Ndirande and .201 for Chirimba). This may explain the number of respondents that reported having acquired land by buying from individuals.

Tenure security in Chirimba was found to have a strong positive relationship (r = .622) with reasons for moving into a settlement from previous resident. In the same settlement development control had a moderate positive relationship with tenure security (r = .421). This could explain the role of the chief in development control, land transactions and allocations. However, these same variables had no significant relationship in Ndirande.

Further trial in inferential statistics did not yield satisfying results. Assumptions based on descriptive analysis may be misleading but it requires a research methodology designed for wide statistical analysis to make inferential relationships and further data explanations.

Besides having the household views on tenure security and growth of Informal Settlements. Public officers and utility providers had their own perceptions that may reflect on the development of development that has taken place in the Informal Settlements.

# 5.8. Public administrators perception of Informal Settlements

# 5.8.1. Ministry of lands

This research was fortunate to interview a senior officer from the commissioner of lands office. The conclusion made from the interview is that central government still views Informal Settlements as undesirable developments. The local authority being in charge of building control was reported as not doing much. The office was of the opinion that political interference makes officers work in fear and policy implementation difficult.

The solution to informal settlement is seen in having to re-locate some of the settlements outside the city. In some cases, planning and titling could be done. Central government would wish the council to control the supply of services in oncoming new settlements to reduce their spread. The utility providers were reported as working against development control policies by supplying the settlements. Informal Settlements being illegal and unplanned the ministry of lands has little knowledge of the Public Spaces. All the development and protection in them should be by the traditional chiefs and the council

The present land policy is seen as one tool that would make development control possible for it has no role of traditional chiefs in urban centres. The ministry of lands would like to have the chiefs stopped from administering land in the urban areas to reduce dual roles.

# 5.8.2. Local Government

The mandate to plan and control development in the city is on Blantyre City Council. The council's officers from planning department reported very little involvement in the Informal Settlements. This was blamed on the dual responsibilities where the Ministry of Lands controls allocations in the formal areas while traditional leaders control customary lands. Until Informal Settlements are planned they are not officially in the councils records of development control. There is no clear way of dealing with the spread of Informal Settlements in terms of policy in the council besides that legal tenure may be implemented. A pilot project is under way in one of the cities Informal Settlements.

On the other hand the council is supposed to provide serviced plots under the theme of THA. This is a new responsibility, which is slowly being implementing given the problem of funds and skilled personnel. Between 1992 and 2002, the council has only been able to do about 800 plots. The World Bank funded about 500. Connecting infrastructures in the Informal Settlements was reported as encouraging their growth and that makes working relationship with utility companies difficult. The residents were reported to call for support for public facilities through politicians. Ndirande water project was implemented after politicians complained of cholera outbreaks due to the council not supplying or allowing water installation. While this is so, the roads department in the council has a working programme that includes the Informal Settlements. The constraint in doing the roads was attributed to lack of funds and the fact that Informal Settlements being illegal are not a priority.

# 5.8.3. Utility providers

The utility providers concern themselves with services to all on the basis of individuals' affordability. They view the council and central government as organizations, which have failed to plan the city and yet keep o applying retrogressive regulations. Though they do attend council planning meetings, they only seek authority for development on new projects and not on individual connections.

The Water Board has a "pool" policy where water kiosks are provided to the community through NGOs, groups of people or individuals so long as payment is done. UNICEF supplied water in Ndirande by implementation of the pool policy. Where lack of planning would have hindered lying down of water pipes due to lack of access, the offices advises applicants to acquire right of way from neighbours with chiefs having to endorse agreements.

The Electricity Commission prefers people to group together to cut down on the cost of installation. Normally, the office does not refer to the council or any other organization while providing services in the Informal Settlements. The office views Informal Settlements as places where majority of their clients reside. To utility providers Informal Settlements are there to stay and the only way is to give the services that would make living in them comfortable. None of the officers interviewed saw regularization as a solution. They however would wish pre-planning were done in the settlements before development. The advice is to have the council plan all other vacant land and protect unauthorized growth.

#### 5.8.4. Community Organizations in the settlements

In areas where people have to get together to pull resources for development, community groups are normally established. This research did not encounter any community group in the settlements of study. In Chirimba none of the respondents had ever been involved in any community group. The reasons were given as lack of awareness, poor leadership in the known groups, residents' lack of cooperation and the financial involvements in the groups. Though in Ndirande 2 persons had been involved in community work, it was for pay by World Vision. The residents were non-committal on the usefulness of groups and the areas chiefs did not emphasize on them.

The community officer from the council associated low establishment of groups to individualism nature of the residents, the culture of provision by the government and the wish not to be involved in any financial committing activity. This could be the cause of low development of community facilities like schools and hospitals and also the blockage of storm water drains which residents of Ndirande are supposed to clean communally as explained by the community officer.

#### 5.9. Summary

Informal Settlements have grown side by side with the formal residential areas. In time, they have become the housing areas for the majority of residents of Blantyre who include all categories if income earners. This is due to the shortage of housing from the formal sector and lack of planned land in the market. As of the year 2000, MHC reported a backlog of 253,000 housing units (Ministry of Housing. National plan, 2000). Traditional ways of accessing land have given a sense of tenure security that has led to gradual incremental development. Public utilities have continued to tap the clientele in these areas and hence, the problem is not really lack of services that can be sold out at household level but lack of funds. This reflected by the incremental development witnessed. On the other hand the settlement show inadequate availability and development of Public Spaces to support provision of basic services and infrastructure for the benefit of all residents. The Public Space is the most insecure in the settlements.

# 6. DISCUSSION

# 6.1. Introduction

This chapter will discuss the findings from chapter five against the background of the literature review in chapter two and the information on Blantyre as presented in chapter three. The arguments raised in this chapter will support the conclusions of the research and the formulation of an upgrading model based on Public Space.

The research has followed an exploratory approach from a historical perspective of Informal Settlements growth. This is because informal settlement have grown and spread over time taking into account events and different circumstances of particular developing countries. Ways of controlling informality also have a time span that follows a historical trend.

# 6.2. Informal Settlements

In chapter two (section 2.2) Informal Settlements are described as residential places in the urban centres created by poor rural migrants in the developing countries through invasion of public and private land. They therefore have no legal tenure security, do not adhere to planning and development control, the housing condition is poor and they lack basic services and infrastructure. While this is true in many regards, recent studies have disapproved some of these long standing views as will be brought out in this discussion.

Conventional ways of dealing with Informal Settlements have ranged from eviction, mass house developments, site and service schemes, planning and titling to present upgrading schemes. These methods have not reduced the growth of Informal Settlements in any significant form due to increased urbanization in the developing countries.

The phenomenon of urbanization was introduced to many developing countries during the colonial period. After independence these developing countries inherited the western models of city planning, development control and registration (Payne, 2001). What is significant is that the colonial governments had been able to restrict "unnecessary" migrants to cities through coercion means. After independence there were flows of migrants to cities greater than the capacity to house and provide employment. To date, rural migrants still contribute the highest number of residents in the Informal Settlements. In Ndirande and Chirimba majority of the respondents in the interviews are migrants from rural areas that came to the city in search of employment. As a whole, Informal Settlements by 1999 comprised 55% of the residential areas in Blantyre (Blantyre City Assembly Urban Structure plan, 1999).

Laws inherited during the colonial period defined land in urban areas as public, private or customary owned. Unauthorized settlements in the first two categories lead to informality in the context of law. But considering that the settlers do not displace anyone or any public project, then the legal tools that justify public and private land and therefore define informality are not appropriate.

Chirimba is public land according to government officials through extension of city boundaries and land acquisition procedures. However locals were not re-located elsewhere as required by law. Ndirande is customary land but is covered by the Physical planning Act that demands development control. The traditional practices of managing land have continued in these settlements and are considered secure by residents while government officials still claim the land is informal These traditional means are not considered as invasion of public and private land nor informal or insecure by the migrants in urban centres. They support the concept of perceived tenure security (Fourie, 1999) against formal tenure.

It would then be right to argue that from a historical perspective on how urban centres developed in the third world, the adoption of western legal instruments of land use, development and registration led to the problem of informality as seen today. These instruments have been applied so rigidly that they have failed to appreciate the culture and traditions of the people they are supposed to manage land for. Thus informality lies in the acts of the lawmaker (Gilbert in Baross and Van der Linden, 1990). These legal instruments and procedures are however, the ones applied globally by international organizations in the provision of housing, secure tenure and Informal Settlements upgrading.

# 6.3. Global campaigns

Housing programs, site and service schemes, titling programs and upgrading schemes are all introduced and wholly or partially supported by donor agents. The World Bank and UNCHS (Habitat) are the major supporters.

Habitat global campaign on "shelter for all" led to the initial formation of housing departments in the developing countries to address the housing problems. The required finances for house projects came mainly from World Bank. However some the projects were beyond sustainability as seen through Malawi Housing Corporation (MHC) and had to be abandoned. If the standards and cost in housing projects were a hindrance, even the less demanding site and service schemes have not provided shelter to all because they are too expensive for the target group.

One would then imagine that the on site upgrading would be easier to implement especially if services and infrastructures are all that is required. However, tied to housing, the donors have always put secure legal tenure as an important factor. Access to land and security of tenure as a condition for sustainable shelter and urban development is supported by donor countries (Habitat 11, 1996). The access to housing through security of tenure is favored by the World Bank under its current shift from specific project funding in the developing world to institutional reform where broader issues of accountability, transparency, revenue generation and good governance are addressed.

Secure tenure is then one of the upgrading packages and it has been implemented in some cases as indicated in chapter two (sections 2.6.2, 2.6.3 and 2.6.4). It is a top down approach and it is argued against in that, it is based on agricultural production models suited for rural areas. Based on titling, it has not covered much of the registrable parcels (Fourie, 1999) nor been put into use for collateral purposes as envisaged. Where dispute solving was seen as an advantage, it has not been the case for formal registration has created in some cases more disputes than before (Barry, 2002). In Blantyre, Chome (2002) discovered that no titled residents ever sought grants for house improvement. Development and other transactions were carried out locally through the chiefs. Titling requires planning, involves procedures, introduces development control measures and has official administrative links. It has a "public administration professional approach" as presented in chapter one (figure 1).

Shelter is not all about secure tenure. It involves the improvement of the physical environment and provision of basic services and infrastructure (chapter two, 2.6.1). These are components in upgrading and they work well where institutional formality is not a necessity, hence a favorite of non-governmental organizations (NGOS). This success of this approach lies in local participation and own-ership of projects. The danger is in having uncoordinated projects that cease to be with the withdrawal of the donor agencies. This is the case with Ndirande water project with regard to storm water drains, river rehabilitation and solid waste collection that UNICEF did with the hope of reducing cholera incidences.

Donor governments have gone ahead to declare "cities without slums" campaign where specific local authorities should liaise with donors for development projects (Cities Alliance, 1999). Slums are a result of some of the old uncoordinated projects where continuity in provision of proper housing ended with one or two residential areas that later had more residents than the services were planned for. The provision of services is however an important component of upgrading and those who support service provision belong to "engineering professional approach" as referred in this research (chapter one, figure 1).

What we have are solutions after solutions that have not met their objectives. Donors introduce every now and then new measures and development control, either because they worked in the Western countries or because studies elsewhere have shown they are applicable. Presently the World Bank is coming up with privatization of services and infrastructure and all other projects will have to be formulated in due course under this theme. Strangely, the recipients' government have no choice because they need the funds.

Donors have addressed poverty by attending to some "needy" communities or sectors by direct projects. Still, there is need to address poverty from a national level not through sections of the communities. The sub-sections (sectors) are a reflection of the national governments inability to grow economically to provide employment, housing and other services. Each new attempt to poverty reduction should take into consideration the institutional capacity for implementation at local level, against the background of actual beneficiaries. If governments cannot manage housing programs or site and service schemes, what of privatization of services in areas where private entrepreneurs may have no interest in or where investments may not pay out? There is the danger of marginalizing the low-income groups or over burdening them thus reducing their capacity to self-improvements.

Of the global approach to housing through provision of basic services and secure formal tenure, which are the main packages in upgrading methods (chapter two, section 2.7); housing programs and site and service schemes have had a lengthy application in Blantyre. These methods have been attempts to reduce the growth and spread of Informal Settlements by providing ready to occupy houses and planned, serviced plots for individuals house construction.

# 6.4. Applied upgrading packages in Informal Settlements in Blantyre

Malawian government has applied several methods dealing with informal settlement control. Chapter three section 3.4.2 detailed the formation of MHC for the provision of *houses* to all categories of income groups. Housing projects having not met the increasingly housing needs, *site and service schemes* were introduced under what is referred in Blantyre as the Traditional housing Areas (THA). THA were the responsibility MHC and the success was very minimal (as indicated in chapter 3, table 2). Though the MHC through government later handed over in 1992 the THA to Blantyre City Assembly (BCA), the output is still very low. Information from the BCA officials during the research indicated that City Assembly had undertaken only three projects between 1992 and 2002 with less than 1000 plots.

Site upgrading has been applied very sparingly in Blantyre. The settlement that has benefited most is Ndirande through a water project by UNICEF, which included the construction of water Kiosks (Kabanga, 2002). In additional to water kiosks, UNICEF has rehabilitated the river passing through Ndirande by cleaning and building bridges. The result of this project as per household interviews is that Ndirande respondents do not consider water provision as one of their immediate basic need. Satisfaction with current water kiosks was 100% fair with 88% of the respondents using community kiosks. In Chirimba, where there is less community water supply facilities only 32% of the respondents considers the current situation as fair with 36 % depending on community kiosks. About 40% of Chirimbas' residents wish to invest in water connection while in Ndirande 8% consider doing so with majority not seeing the need to. This leads to the conclusion that the level of service provision determines the individual households future financial commitments.

Upgrading incorporates the regularization of *tenure* and in Blantyre this has been applied in one of the Informal Settlements named Mbayani (Chome 2002). Unfortunately this was not widely extended in the whole settlement or to others. By the time this research was carried out the City Assembly Planning officials implied issuance of formal titles as one of the intended formalization mechanisms. A pilot project is being under taken in a different settlement (other than Mbayani) with site layout *planning* being done first.

From the above issues on housing and serviced land it is evident that formal housing with legal security is a far-fetched goal of the authorities if it is to be through the present laid down procedures. MHC and BCA are incapacitated by lack of funds to carry out projects. MHC is administering its current housing stock and not building new houses. Development in low unplanned areas has shifted to the local authority yet residents cited no contact with the local authorities officials. In essence the government has given up. This does not mean that the general public has not tried to meet their own housing demands and basic services access.

# 6.5. Residents contribution

Residents have shown their capacity to meet their housing needs on their own and even to take advantage of the shortfall in the housing sector by extending their buildings with rooms for rental purposes. 36% of Ndirandes' respondents were tenants and 36% of plot owners intend to construct rental rooms. In Chirimba the percentage of respondents tenants is 20% but 52% of plot owners wish to construct additional rooms for rental purposes. This is their contribution to housing shortage and does not call for projects or privatization. In Blantyre, because the formal sector is not providing enough housing
and serviced land, middle and high-income groups seek alternatives in the informal sector. Chirimba has middle class inhabitants as indicated by the income category in chapter five and the type of build-ings that are being built.

When it comes to self-development, residents under enabling environment will always improve their conditions. Ndirande and Chirimba have shown progressive improvements on dwellings, leading to connections with basic infrastructures whenever possible. This type of incremental development is determined by the amount of income in each household and the level of provision of services and infrastructure by the government or other agents. Though there is no correlation in the two settlements between connection to electricity and income, 48% of Chirimba respondents reported using electricity for lighting against 32% of Ndirande. Those who were not connected to electricity cited lack of funds as the reason.

The limiting factor to incremental development is income and type and amount of service/infrastructure that are availed in the settlements. The initiative by the Water Board and the Electricity supply commission where "pooling of resources" type of policy has enabled water kiosks construction and electricity supply at a level not expected in Informal Settlements should be encouraged. Believe that Informal Settlements are basically for the poor and lack in basic infrastructure and services is disapproved to some extent by the case of Chirimba. However the poor are in the settlements and the access, supply and amounts of services differs from household to household and settlement to settlement.

Taking into account the Informal Settlements residents secure sense of tenure, their incremental developments and the local authority (BCA) attempts to provide housing, it would be right to propose that a working partnership can be established. It is a working relationship that would leave the informal settlers to continue with their own means of accessing land and utilities for as long as the local authority takes charge of public facilities where services and utilities are located for continued supply, maintenance and accountability. It is in this regard that this research proposes an Informal Settlements upgrading model by way of securing and developing Public Spaces through the local authorities.

The model of figure 6.1is based on the fact that:

- the formal sector has failed to provide adequate housing,
- that solutions through tenure security and low housing schemes not worked,
- but;
- that people left to their own social means, are secure and improve incrementally,
- that basic services and infrastructure should be given in a continuous progressive way guided by enabling policies,
- that provision of services occur on Public Spaces,
- and that the search for solution to poverty reduction and informality is still on,

this research proposes upgrading Informal Settlements through securing and development of Public Spaces by the local authorities as a likely sustainable method.



## 6.6. Public Space Upgrading model



#### How would this work?

Public Spaces are the avenues for collective supply of goods and services and provision of collective goods and services contribute to the goal of improving quality of life (Massam, 1993). There is nothing *new* about the proposal of upgrading through provision of public services as Angel (1983) proposed upgrading by public facilities and opening of new sites for low incomes people to develop. What is *emphasized* in this model is the *security and ownership of Public Spaces* that the services are located on by a *public body* that is responsible to its residents and the *continued supply and maintenance*. As put by Massam (1993) "public facilities should provide goods and services which are available to all to enjoy to their required levels" This is what the respondent in the study settlements pointed out as lacking.

On protection of Public Spaces, the new Malawi land policy recommends that Public Spaces get registered to appropriate authorities including local Community Based Organizations, NGO's and others who will be required to develop and maintain these sites in accordance with the intended public use (Malawi Land Policy, 2002). Government planning and development officers are to be authorized to use police powers to ensure that sites set aside for public activities in towns and urban areas are protected from encroachment by illegal developers and that they are used for their intended purpose.

While this is well framed, implementation is difficult due to the dual administrative roles of traditional leaders in Informal Settlements and the council. Furthermore the councils do not have the enforcements personnel especially in new upcoming towns. Registering to clusters of NGOS, Community organizations and other developers is equal to alienating public land indirectly without an applicable overall policy for protection of vulnerable consumers.

What is required is a public authority to take up the *rights and obligations* on Public Spaces. The model starts by recognizing that Informal Settlements have *social interactions* (traditional practices) that legitimize their existence and development. In Blantyre it is the *role of the traditional chiefs* in allocations, approving sales and sub-divisions of land and management of sacred Public Spaces like graves that hold people cohesively and securely. This being so, the earlier efforts of large donors on *tenure security* and household directed *housing projects* should be diverted to development of public facilities through the local authorities. This is because some of the services given ensure the growth of a society that is able to meet its future needs. For example unless the youth in the Informal Settlements gets well educated, they will never be able to get well paying jobs nor make informed decisions. That's why the chief in Chirimba termed education as the "future of the settlers". Health facilities were referred to as "life."

The local authorities need to get to the Informal Settlements and with local leaders *identify, reserve and register the Public Spaces* and then take up the development and maintenance responsibilities. This should be done disregarding the official standards of planning. The local leaders reported lack of interest on the side of the government on the development of the facilities. The council should take this desire to have public facilities developed as an excuse to penetrate the Informal Settlements as *development partner*.

Appropriate people friendly and people oriented *policies* accompanied by easy to implement *legislations* that recognize the *traditional practices* and the *customary authority* will facilitate the interactions. However political institutions support is needed to act as link between people and their traditional leaders on one hand and the local authority with its officials on the other hand. After all, politicians use public facilities and services as campaign tools. In this case, the concept of good governance comes in through public facilities.

The *large donors* should then fund projects through the local authorities in line with decentralization theme. It is up to local authorities to design and negotiate for projects that have a city wide application, that would have a continued impact in the future of the residents and that they can maintain and upgrade when need arises. This would make the local authorities accountable on the state of the projects to the residents and the donor bodies. It also means that the local authorities should be in a position to get funds from the central government for continued management of the facilities whenever necessary and applicable. This will make provision of services part of the *obligation* the council has on its people irrespective of land rights and locations.

The model does not suggest that NGOs will not work directly at household level. On the contrary there are those projects that are individual and group oriented that will always be undertaken without the participation of the local authorities. Households will continue to *access land, construct own houses and pay for service and utilities* as they have done with the Water Board and Electricity Commission. This will result in incremental development that may lead to requests for either *community/group tiles or individual titles*. However other collective needs will be availed in an adequate and qualitative manner to ease the burden of searching for them from far or doing without them. This is the development *partnership* that is needed by upgrading Informal Settlements through development of Public Spaces and cannot be there unless Public Spaces are *secured* for future projects and households own development.

The most important thing is that Public Spaces will be secured, are likely to be developed and the local authorities have an obligation on them. For a council like Blantyre City Assembly this offers the chance of marketing itself in the settlements and other peri-urban areas where land sub-divisions are likely to continue. Information on the actual development needs will enable the council to negotiate strongly for funding and capacity building in the decentralization process and donor funding. This research finds this upgrading approach applicable in Blantyre.

## 7. CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

## 7.1. Introduction

This research has explored the evolvement and development of informal settlement through a case study of Ndirande and Chirimba Informal Settlements in the city of Blantyre, Malawi. Open-ended questionnaires were used to interview household heads in the Informal Settlements. Semi-structured interviews were held with the government agencies and traditional leaders. With these two types of interviews, it was hoped that land tenure security perceptions and the developments on both individual and pubic spaces would be realized. To have an overview of the spatial structure pattern in the settlements, time series aerial photographs were analyzed.

This chapter will try to draw conclusions based on the research findings and by so doing answer the research questions in chapter one. It will also make recommendations based on the conclusions and the proposed upgrading model in chapter 6 (section, 6.5).

## 7.2. Evolvement and development of Informal Settlements

Findings from the research indicate that Informal Settlements have evolved and developed over time. The growth and spatial sprawl is attributed to several factors which include:

a). Migration from rural areas in search for employment. About 80% of the respondents in Chirimba and 68% in Ndirande indicated that they migrated from rural areas in search of employment. Once in the city, lack of adequate housing and serviced land forces migrants to seek housing facilities in the traditional villages within the cities boundaries. Ndirande being the oldest and nearest to the CBD has ended up being highly populated.

b). Inability to supply housing and serviced land by government agencies. MHC and BCA have not met the housing demands and not just for the low-income groups but generally for all categories. This has made the middle and high-income groups to seek for land for home development in the Informal Settlements. With improved transport network, spacious settlements like Chirimba are now being developed by well earning residents and buildings are no different from those in the formal high-income class areas. Affordable land for own house construction is a pull factor to Chirimba with 80 % of the total respondents in this settlement being owner-occupiers.

c). Traditional means of land delivery. Traditional chiefs allocate customary land for use in the rural areas of Malawi. This practice has extended into the cities because of incorporating rural villages into city boundaries without replacing traditional practices with statutory procedures. Initially chiefs allocated land free. With time by buying from individuals has taken over as indicated in chapter five figure 5. Natural population increase has also led to second and third generations that acquired land by inheriting.

In summary, continuous rural urban migration, natural urban population growth, the inability of the formal sector to provide housing and serviced land has resulted in uncontrolled, unauthorized land delivery and constructions leading to the development of Informal Settlements.

#### 7.3. Land tenure security perceptions and state of Public Spaces

Formal land delivery in Blantyre is inadequate. BCA officials during the research interviews reported having released less than 1000 serviced plots in a period of 10 years. In this period of 10 years the population of Blantyre increases by about 100,000 persons. The Informal Settlements accommodate this large increase not by invasion of private or public land but through socially accepted traditional means. These traditional means are perceived so secure that none of the respondents reported having had any official legal land dealings with the government. They are involved in direct land allocations by traditional chiefs or the chiefs witnesses and consent to various land transactions that involve sub-divisions, buying and selling. Majority of new developments are reported to the chiefs with just a few rare cases where in Ndirande political leaders were informed. Even then, the chiefs were made aware of the developments.

None of the chiefs in the study settlements reported having had residents enquire on how to get land titles. This is so even though some households have invested heavily in permanent big houses, rental and commercial facilities. This means that residents do not consider their settlements informal nor do they see any threat to their properties in the future. However at a settlement level, respondents did not seem to appreciate the allocation of what they commonly understand as public land to individuals. The chief in Chirimba has allocated land reserved for school and other public purposes and in Ndirande, political party leaders have allocated road reserves.

Respondents' were willing to discuss the dissatisfaction they had on the quality and quantity of public facilities and services. They seem to perceive the protection and development of Public Spaces as a responsibility of the government and local authority. In the choice of their immediate needs none of the household heads desired roofing material, school fees, transport or those aspects of life that are associated with one's household. Instead they complained about congestion in schools and in hospitals, poor roads, dirty and small market facilities and poor sanitation all of which the council or other government agents are expected to take care off.

In Chirimba, respondents felt that it is the duty of the council to intervene on public land allocations since it took over settlements responsibility from MHC. In Ndirande, the Chief felt that the central government and council have failed to control politicians from interfering with land in the settlements at a time when the only available land is road reserves. On the other hand, government officials did not want to acknowledge responsibility for public facilities in Informal Settlements because they are unplanned, unregistered and illegal according to them. It is a scenario in which informal settlers know what they should do for themselves given time and resources, but they feel helpless in other areas that they expect the government to help, while the government ignores total responsibility to them because it does not recognizing their land tenure status.

It can then be concluded that at a household level, land tenure is perceived as secure. Individual investments continue without undue fear. Public Spaces face the danger of continuous encroachment and

inadequate services and facilities in theses Public Spaces make the future at a settlement level very insecure.

#### 7.4. Household improvements and limitations

House owner occupation is popular in the settlements of study. Most respondents get their plots vacant through allocations by the chiefs, through buying or inherance from families. Construction starts with the basics with one improving and extending while in occupation. Improvements are in terms of roof, walls, floor, additional rooms, tree planting, and connection to utilities like water and electricity. The improvements observed and reported differ in the two settlements with the highest common wish to improve being on additional rooms. Differences in already reported and intended improvements could be attributed to:

a). Location of settlement. Ndirande is close to the city. It is attractive to job seekers for residence purpose. This could explain the investments in additional rooms by plot owners. 36% of respondents were tenants while 40% of owners intend to add rooms. Additional of rooms was reported to be limited by lack of space. Chirimba has a lower percentage of tenants (20%) but 52% of plot owners reported intentions adding rental rooms.

b). Income related limitations. Chirimba has a larger number of respondnents wishing to be connected to utilities like electricity, water and telephone than Ndirande. The income levels of Ndirande are lower than those of Chirimba and though the wish to have utilities is there, respondents gave financial constraints as a factor. Generally, telephone connection is low in both settlements. 38% of respondents in Ndirande have electricity against 48% in Chirimba. On a whole, the quality of housing in Chirimba is better than that of Ndirande.

c). Government/NGOs facilitation. Where utility facility has been supplied in the settlements, the wish to invest in that facility is low. Since water supply by kiosks is well covering in Ndirande, respondents reported a low priority for improvement in water connections while in Chirimba 48% wish to have water connected and about 24% have invested in water connections already. Though the percentages are low, they are an indication of progressive household developments.

Thus, development in the settlements is incremental and it ranges from basic immediate improvements on physical aspect of the house to the connection of utilities .The limiting factor to connection, is the financial capacity of each household and the extent of supply of basic utilities by the government.

## 7.5. Community organizations and public administration perceptions

One would expect strong rooted community groups in Informal Settlements mainly to act as link between residents and authorities in the quest for social services and basic utilities. This was found not to be the case in both settlements of the study. A majority of residents reported unawareness of any existing groups and to some extent poor leadership by group leaders. Group formation facilitation is the role of the central government and the local authority in Malawi.

The problem in Blantyre is that government officials have distanced themselves with the activities of the informal settlers because by law, they do not exist. Religious developments and cemetery facilities that are the responsibility of the community are adequate but those services that require more funding

and are expected to come from the government are poorly supplied, under developed or unprotected. These include the construction of schools, hospitals, roads, and solid waste collection among others. These are the facilities that community groups could request for from the government. They are all "public goods" that go beyond the capacity of individuals or groups to provide for themselves. They require government budget planning and continuous maintenance.

It can be concluded that there is official negligence in the provision of services under the pretext of informality even though the settlements house more than half of the city's population. There is no strong official wish to bring people together through community participation in the study settlements.

#### 7.6. Utility connections and upgrading policies

The fact that to public administrators Informal Settlements are illegal does not mean there are no utility connections. The Water Board and Electricity Supply Commission who do not concern themselves with tenure issues have delivered services in the settlements on the basis of affordability to any needy applicant. The continued spread of Informal Settlements means that a large number of clients are in there. Building in these areas by the rich has also increased political push for facilities against the nonprovision policies of the council and central government.

To meet increased demand, the Water Board introduced the "Pool policy" approach, which is implemented by way of community Kiosks. UNICEF to provide water in Ndirande used this pool approach. The Electricity Commission advices people to group together for cost sharing and to guarantee each other right of access in the unplanned settlements where access is not clear. Further to this, they are experimenting on how to supply electricity to grass roofed, mud-plastered houses of the very poor.

From the interviews it was clear that public administrators do not appreciate the non-adherence of policy by utility providers or the political backing they use at times to provide services in Informal Settlements. To public administrators, service provision encourages Informal Settlements sprawl. To utility providers, public administrators have failed in their role to plan the city and to come up with proactive implementable policies. Respondents reported having no direct dealings with public administrators but since a number are connected with electricity and water, it means there are interactions with utility providers. This questions the public administrators approach in upgrading through legal procedures against the engineering approach for delivery of services.

The central government and the local authorities seem to be stuck with the standard formal planning and registration approach to upgrading. Even though the central government was unable to control informal growth through the lowered traditional houses of site and service schemes (THA) that were being done by MHC, the local authority (BCA) proceeds with the same approach to date. The output is too low and slow to have an impact on serviced land provision. To add to this, BCA is experimenting on titling programs even though the residents in the Informal Settlements do not consider legal tenure as an important factor to development. Although the new land policy mandates the local authority to control development, the rooted traditional practices and the shortage of funds and personnel would not allow the council to implement the policies as they are today.

In summary, the Informal Settlements are on the increase in Blantyre spatially and by densification in each settlement. The expected insecurity of tenure is not there due to traditional practices that are trusted by people enabling incremental upgrading of households on their private properties. What is lacking is adequate governments support in provision of basic services and infrastructure. These services occur on Public Spaces that the residents are losing to private developers thus, limiting future upgrading projects. An upgrading approach that puts emphasis on the protection of Public Spaces so that any future community project can go on is recommended. This would therefore mean that development and accountability of Public Spaces should be a responsibility of the local authority through which any other agent should pass.

## 7.7. Physical changes in the settlements

GIS and Remote Sensing Technology was useful in detecting and mapping the densification of household buildings. Using aerial photographs, it was possible to estimate the number of buildings that have been put up over a period of time. GIS was also used to show the location of Public Spaces and the physical developments that have taken place on them. GIS analysis enabled the visualization of the extent of illegal developments on Public Spaces in the study settlement to support the household interviews. For this research, remote sensing helped in random sampling of the study population through stratification of settlement orthophotos and in faster location and accessing of households by entering coordinates of sampled points into a GPS.

## 7.8. Recommendations

From the research finding, tenure security and individual housing were not seen as a problem in the settlements of study. What came out was the need to have improvements in the supply of basic social services and infrastructure, security and protection against illegal developments in Public Spaces. Blantyre City Assembly (council) should try to alter its approach to upgrading by getting actively into those factors that are more appreciable at a community level. This would enable it to popularize its presence and role as a development partner, a thing that is lacking presently. For this to happen a few things need to be done being:

a) To revisit the current land policy for clarity on the administrative roles of traditional leaders and the central government when in an overall reference, the council ought to control developments through planning. The council presently seems to have very little control on freehold land in the city thus not being able to monitor sub-divisions. It therefore needs to renegotiate the land policy to reflect current social–economic trends backed by statutory laws that are easy and inexpensive to implement. With creativity on people friendly strategy approaches like the Water Board and Electricity commission, this can be done.

b). In the decentralization process it should be remembered that the central government was neither able to provide for housing nor control the growth of Informal Settlements. Thus when all development responsibilities are being pushed onto the council, the council should be able to negotiate for direct funding by the central government for continued city management. This will not happen unless there is:

*General Public support.* Most of the residents are in the Informal Settlements and what they need are those services and utilities that they cannot provide on their own. The council should take up the provision responsibility actively and continuously in order to relate with the public.

Active strong community groups. Whilst the informal residents come together to acquire utilities, there is a need for groups that are continuously coordinating activities between the council and the residents are necessary. The groups should be independent of the Development Committees by the central government. They should be involved with issues like construction and upgrading of public facilities in general, taking advantage of their interactions with and role of traditional leaders in the settlements. The traditional leaders should be allowed and facilitated to attend local councils development and planning meetings actively. This will introduce partnership and mutual understanding in the development and improvement of Informal Settlements between the people, traditional leaders and the council.

*Political goodwill.* Politicians link central government, the local government and the people. During the interviews respondents never referred to the local authority councillors. They do not seem to be active enough to be referred like the political party leaders and the traditional leaders. The councillors can either help popularize the council (or de-popularize it) especially where policies have to be understood by people and implemented. A working relationship of all leaders should be established.

*Donor support.* Though most of the cities projects are donor funded, the council wastes lots of money through lack of support in maintenance. An example is where donor funds (UNICEF) clean up rivers and build storm water drains only for the council to neglect them and have them turned into solid waste dumping places. Donor confidence in times of accountability and good governance for further funding is a necessity and this they can show by maintenance and control of projects already implemented.

c) The council needs to have information on the availability and quality of public facilities and be able to convince the public, the central government and the donors that it is committed to improving the quality of life in the Informal Settlements. This will happen only if it actively gets involved with the provision and maintenance of basic services and utilities. For this to be so, it has to establish a working relationship with people and their trusted traditional leaders. By liaising with the traditional leaders it will be able to record all the Public Spaces surrendered as roads and for other uses during continued sub-divisions of land. It may also be possible to acquire new sites for future development.

While personnel will be required, high technical skills may not be necessary. It should start by public awareness on the importance of Public Spaces through a close working relationship with the traditional leaders and the councillors. For Blantyre where GIS (Geographical Information Systems) has already been introduced, simple participatory GIS where they map out Public Spaces, roads and foot paths through use of aerial photographs may help. It may even help to adjudicate group and individual property rights if needed by use of general boundaries.

d) The council should ensure that it negotiates with development agents on the continued maintenance of public facilities. That is why Public Spaces should be reserved and protected primarily by the council so that all developments proposals go through it. Otherwise it may continue to inherit projects that may not last and hence continue losing public trust.

#### Upgrading Informal Settlements through development of Public Spaces.

Public Spaces are the avenue for public facilities and goods. If these spaces are not reserved, future projects for Informal Settlements will be problematic with unnecessarily funds being used to acquire

land that ought to be there. Under-development of some of the facilities limits the chances of a healthy, educated future generation and forces households to over spend scarce resources that should go into own house and self-improvement. Public Spaces and accompanying facilities are also field for political maneuvers and the only way accountability and transparency is reflected. Public Spaces are therefore part of the means in which the council can participate in the improvement of living conditions, poverty alleviation and control of development in the Informal Settlements. *This research therefore recommends upgrading by securing and development of Public Space*. Public Spaces should be titled to local authorities.

#### 7.9. Future research recommendations

1. Further continuation of this research is recommended where by a research methodology is designed to collect quantitative data with a sample size large enough for statistical analysis. Though this research applied non-parametric correlation analysis, the results were unsatisfactory.

2. While the proposal for upgrading Informal Settlements by securing and development of Public Spaces is recommended in this research, it remains to be seen how the quality and quantity of Public Spaces in the Informal Settlements of Blantyre City may reflect on the improvement of living standards and future upgrading projects. A research covering several settlements needs to be done to relate the influence and impact of/lack of services in one settlement to others. A socio-economic survey that incorporates geo-spatial data analysis would assist in planning location of facilities and formulation of development policies in Informal Settlements.

3. There is need to investigate how Public Spaces could be secured without falling back to standard planning requirements. Consideration should be put to the fact that Informal Settlements are very dynamic in their setting and development and that they incorporate different interests at each particular time depending on location, historical beginning and age.

4. There should be more research on the provision of legal tenure vis-à-vis the provision of basic services to be able to support or reject the global campaigns on tenure security for housing in developing countries where titles may not have that much impact on the general public.

## 8. References

1. Abbott, J., 1996. Sharing The City: Community Participation in Urban Management. Earthscan publications Ltd, London. ISBN 1 85383 328 2.

2. Abbott, J., 2000. The use of spatial data to support the integration of Informal Settlements in the formal city. A paper prepared for the Urban Planning & Management Division of the International Institute for Geo-Information Science and Earth Observation (ITC) Research seminar held on 08/11/2000.

3. Abbott, J. and Douglas, D., 2001. A methodological approach to upgrading, in situ, of Informal Settlements in South Africa, Pretoria: Water Research Commission No.786/2/01.

4. Amis, P., 1984. Squatters or Tenants: The Commercialization of Unauthorized Housing in Nairobi. World Development, 12 (1), 87-96.

5. Angel, S., Archer, R.W., Tanphiphat, S., Wegelin, E. A., (eds). 1983. Land for Housing the Poor Craftsman Press Ltd Bangkok, Thailand. ISBN 9971 83 550 9.

6. Asiama, S.O. and Acquaye, E., 1986. Land policies for development for low-income groups in Africa. Land Development Studies, 1986 Vol. 3.

7. Baken, R. J., Nientied, P., Petternburg, M. and Zaaijier, M., 1991. Neighborhood Consolidation and Development of the Informal Settlements. HIS Working Paper Series No.3.

8. Baross, P., 1991. Action Planning. IHS Working Paper Series No.2.

9. Baross, P and Linden, J., (eds) 1990. The Transformation of Land Supply Systems in Third World Cities. Avebury, Aldershot.

10. Blantyre City Assembly, 1999. Blantyre Urban Structure Plan 2000-2014.

11. Bruce, J and Migot-Adholla, S., (eds) 1994. Searching for land tenure security in Africa, Kendall/Hunt, USA.

12. Chilowa, W., 1996. The Role and Management of Traditional Housing areas. Centre for Social Research, University of Malawi.

13. Cities Alliance. <u>http://www.citiesalliance.org/caupgrading.nsf?openDatabase</u>. Accessed on 30/08/2002.

14. Cities Alliance 2001. Orangi Pilot Project. <u>http://web.mit.edu/urbanupgrading/case-examples/ce-PK.ora.html</u>. Accessed on 31/08/2002.

15. Dale, P.F., McLaughlin, J.D., 2000. Land Administration. Oxford University Press.

16. Davies, C.J and Fourie, C.F., 1998. A land management approach for Informal Settlements in South Africa. South Africa Journal of Survey and Mapping Vol.24No.147and148.239-246.

17. Davidson, F. 1984. Ismalia: Combined Upgrading and Site and Services Projects in Egypt. In Payne, G., (eds) 1984. Low-Income Housing in The Developing World: The Role of Sites and Services and Settlement Upgrading. John Willy & Sons New York. ISBN 0 471 90212 8.

18. De Oliveira, Gan, M, Gonzalez, T, Li, C, Lopez, Y., Marribay, A., 1996. Community Upgrading: La Esperanza Graduate Report. <u>http://www.geocities.com/capitolhill/3836/mexico.html</u>. Accessed 05/28/2002.

19. De Souza, F.A.M., 1999. Land Tenure Security and Housing Improvements in Recife, Brazil. Habitat International vol.23.No.1.

20. De Souza, F.A.M., 2001. Perceived Security of tenure in Recife, Brazil. Habitat International vol. 25.No.3.

21. Economic Commission For Europe, 1996. Land administration Guidelines. United Nations Publications, Geneva.

22. Feder, G., Onchan, T., Chalamwog, Y and Hongladaron, C., 1988. Land policies and farm productivity in Thailand, John Hopkins University Press.

23. Fourie, C., 2001. The use of new forms of spatial information, not the cadastre, to provide security. Paper presented at the International conference on spatial information for sustainable development. Nairobi-Kenya, 2-5 October 2001.

24. Hall, P., Pfeiffer, U., 2000. Urban Future 21: A global Agenda for Twenty-First Century Cities. Taylor & Francis group, London. ISBN 0 415 24075 1.

25. Hamer, A. M., 1985. Bogotá's unregulated subdivisions: The Myths and Realities of Incremental Housing Construction. World Bank staff Working Paper 734.

26. Jere, H., 1984. Local Participation in Planning and Decision-Making. In Payne, G., (eds) Low-Income Housing in The Developing World: The Role of Sites and Services and Settlement Upgrading. John Willy & Sons New York. ISBN 0 471 90212 8.

27. Kabanga, L., 2002. Spatial analysis for potable water supply using GIS approach in Ndirnade Informal Settlement: Blantyre. IFA Report. ITC, The Netherlands.

28. MacAuslan, P., 1985. Urban Land and shelter for the poor. Earthscan, London.

29. Massam, B.H., 1993. The Right Place: Shared responsibility and the location of public facilities. Longman scientific& technical, England.

30. Matope, J. J., 2000. Blantyre City Environmental Profile. Report done for United Nations Development Programme. (UNDP).

31. Mbanlenje, A.T.B., 2001. Land Law and Land Policy, http://www.unu.edu/unupress/unupbooks/80604e/80604E09.htm. Accessed on (08/13/2002).

32. Ministry of Housing, Malawi. National PLAN OF Action 1995 to 2000.

33. Ministry of Lands, 2001. Malawi National Land Policy.

34. Mitole, W. C., 1999. Urban Poverty Reduction: Developing of a Basis for Collaborated and Coordinated Approach for Effective Urban poverty Reduction: The case of Blantyre City. HIS Report No 2693.

35. National Statistical Office, 1966, 1987 and 1998. The 1998 Malawi Demographic and Health Survey, National Statistical Office of Malawi, Box 333,Zomba, Malawi.

36. Office of the President and Cabinet Report, 1993. The study of Zalewa Road and Kachere Unplanned Development areas: Blantyre city.

37. Okpala, D.C.I. Spatial Information: The Basic Tool for Sustainable Human Settlements Development Planning and Management. United Nations Centre For Human Settlements (Habitat) <u>http://www.oicrf.org/</u> 11/07/2002.

38. Okpala, D. C. I., 1999. Upgrading slum and squatter settlements in the developing countries: Is there a cost -effective alternative. UNCHS (Habitat), Nairobi.

39. Payne, G and Davidson, F., 1983. Urban Projects Manual: A guide to preparing upgrading and new development projects accessible to low-income groups. Liverpool University Press.

40. Payne, G., (eds) 1984. Low-Income Housing in The Developing World: The Role of Sites and Services and Settlement Upgrading. John Willy & Sons New York. ISBN 0 471 90212 8.

41. Payne, G., 2001. The Impact of Regulation on the Livelihoods of the Poor. Paper prepared for the ITDG research project "regulatory guidelines for upgrading".

42. Payne, G., and 2001. Urban Land Tenure: Titles or Rights. Habitat International vol.25.No.3. 415-429.

43. Payne, G., 2002. Land, Rights and Innovation: Improving Tenure Security for the Urban Poor. London. ITDG Publishing. ISBN 1-85339-544-7.

44. Project planning, Formulation and Funding Elective Module, April 2002. Lecture notes by Emile Dopheide and Liza Groenendijk. ITC, Netherlands.

45. Rakodi, C and Lylod-jones, T., 2002. Urban Livelihoods: A people-centered approach to reducing poverty, London. Eartscan Publications Limited. ISBN: 1-85383-861-6.

46. Ranjit, K., 1996. Research Methodology: A step-by-step guide for beginners. London. Sage Publications. ISBN 0-7619-6213-1.

47. Sardinians, H. Sites and Services. <u>http://www.gdrc.org/uem/squatters/s-and-s.html</u>. Accessed on 19/02/2002.

48. Schmid, W. A., 1994. The concept of sustainability and land use planning. In Van Lier, H. N., Jaarsma, C. F., Jurgens, C. R., De Buck, A. J. (eds) 1994. Sustainable Land Use Planning. Elseveir, Amsterdam. ISBN 0 444 81835 9.

49. Shubert, C., 1996. Building Partnerships for Urban Poverty Alleviation: Community-Based Programmes in Asia. United Nations Centre for Human Settlements, Nairobi. ISBN: 92-1-131310-4.

50. Siddiqui, T. A. and Khan, M.A., 1990. Land Supply to the Urban Poor; Hyderabad's Incremental Development Scheme. In Baross, P. and Linden, J., (eds) 1990. The Transformation of Land Supply Systems in Third World Cities, Avebury, Aldershot.

51. Silas, J., 1984. The Kampung Improvement Programme of Indonesia: A comparative case study of Jakarta and Surabaya. In Payne, G. (eds) Low-Income Housing in The Developing World: The Role of Sites and Services and Settlement Upgrading. John Willy & Sons New York. ISBN 0 471 90212 8. 52. Н., 1999. Sites and Services in Srivinas. Urban Squatters and Slums. http://www.gdrc.org/uem/squatters/s-and-s.html Accessed on 19/02/2002.

53. Srivinas, H., 2002. Urban Development and poverty in Urban Squatters and Slums. http://www.gdrc/uem/squatters/urban-poverty.html. Accessed on 19/02/2002.

54. Stockholm Partnerships, <u>http://www.partnership.Stockholm.se/search\_view.asp?Ide=135</u>. Accesses on 12/12/2002.

55. Tebbal, F and Ray, K., 2001. Housing the Urban Poor in Habitat Debate September 2001/Vo.7/No.3. <u>http://www.unchs.org/hd/hdv7n3/intro.htm</u>. Accessed on 28/05/2002.

56. Tokman, K. B., 1984. Ankara: Procedures for Upgrading and Urban Management. In Payne, G. (eds) Low-Income Housing in The Developing World: The Role of Sites and Services and Settlement Upgrading. John Willy & Sons New York. ISBN 0 471 90212 8.

57. Van Horen, B., 2000. Bridging the Gap Between the De facto and De jure. Journal of Planning Education and Research, vol 19 (389-400).

58. UN-Habitat II, 1996. Global conference on access to land and security of tenure as a condition for sustainable shelter and Urban Development. New Delhi, India 17-19 January 1996.

59. UN-Habitat II, 1996. http://www.bestpractices.org/html/habitat\_lmp.html. Accessed 07/30/2002.

60. UN-Habitat (2001), Cities Without Slums, <u>http://www.unchs.org/whd/edmassage.htm</u>. Accessed 12/09/2002.

61. UN-Habitat Professionals Forum, June 6-8, 2001. New York. http://www.fig.net/figtree/habitatforum/istanbul+5/discussion-6-6-2001.htm. Accessed 31/07/2002.

62. Van Lier, H. N., Jaarsma, C. F., Jurgens, C. R., De Buck, A. J., (eds) 1994. Sustainable Land Use Planning. Elseveir, Amsterdam. ISBN o 444 81835 9.

63. World Bank press Release, 1996. <u>http://www.worldbank.org/html/extdr/extme/slumspr.htm</u>. Accessed on 22/02/2002.

64. World Bank press Release, 1996. <u>http://www.worldbank.org/html/extdr/extme/slumspr.htm</u>. Accessed on 22/02/2002.

65. http://www.infoplease.com/ce6/world/A085941.html. Accessed on 11/09/2002.

# 9. Appendices

## 9.1. Appendix 1: Household guide questionnaires

## SETTLEMENT NAME.....

NAME OF INTERVIEWER.....

DATE.....

#### SERIAL NO. .....

## INTERVIEW GUIDE QUESTIONS FOR HOUSEHOLD SURVEY.

- What is your relationship to this property?
  - a) Owner

1.

- b) Tenant
- 2. When did you come to live in the city? (Probe into years)
- 3. Where did you leave before you came to this settlement?
- 3(a) Why did you leave the rural area or above place (Which ever is applicable)?
- 4. What most important factors attracted you to this settlement?
  - a) Schools
  - b) Good roads
  - c) Health facilities
  - d) Potable water availability
  - e) Electricity
  - f) Security
  - g) Land availability
  - h) Affordable rent
  - i) Near to work place
  - j) Others
  - (If tenant go to 10)
- 5. In what form was the property at acquisition period?
  - a) Vacant land
  - b) Land and developments
  - Did you do any further construction? (If the answer is b).
- 6. How did you get to acquire this property?
  - a) Through the Chief
  - b) Through central government (lands department)

- c) Blantyre City Assembly
- d) Malawi Housing Corporation
- e) By buying
- f) Inheritance
- g) Through political patronage
- h) Others

(Household interview questions)

- 7. Did you think of land tenure security when you were acquiring the property?
  - a) Yes (Explain your answer)
  - b) No (Explain your answer)
- 8. Do you have to report to anyone like the city council or lands department whenever you want to carry out any development on your property?
  - Who were involved in the construction of the house?
    - a) Own household

9.

- b) Own household and relatives
- c) Own household and community assistance
- d) Own household and hired labour
- e) Hired skilled labour

10. Existing house characteristics: (Both tenant and owner)

- a) Roof type  $\Box$  Corrugated iron  $\Box$  Grass thatched  $\Box$  Other
- b) Wall type 🗆 Burnt bricks 🗆 Unburnt bricks 🗆 Other
- c) Floor type  $\Box$  Earth  $\Box$  Cement  $\Box$  Other
- d) Number of rooms
- 11. What is the source of water for the household?
  - a) Tap inside the house
  - b) Private tap outside the house
  - c) Borehole
  - d) Wells
  - e) Communal water kiosks
  - f) Private water kiosks
- 12. What form of lighting does the household use?
  - a) Electricity
  - b) Paraffin
  - c) Other
- 13. What is the source of energy/fuel for cooking and heating in the house?
  - a) Electricity
  - b) Firewood
  - c) Briquettes
  - d) Paraffin
  - e) Charcoal
  - f) Other

14.	Wha	t are the reasons for not being co	nnected to? (	Not for tenants)			
			Water	Electricity	Telephone.		
	a)	Lack of finance					
	b)	Main line far away/non-existe	ent				
	c)	No need for connection					
	d)	Others					
		(Household interview question	ons)				
	(Ç	Questions 15-18 for both tenant an	nd owner)				
15.	Wha	t are the methods the household	uses to dispose	off solid waste?			
	a)	Collected by the council truck	ks				
	b)	Using skips which are then re	emoved by the	council			
	c)	Garbage pits		al			
	d)	Burning					
	e)	Dumping the wastes by the re-	oad sides				
	f)	Dumping into the rivers					
	g)	Others					
16	33.71		1 1 10				
16.		t type of toilet is used by the hou Private Pit latrine	senold?				
	a)		. 1	. 1.			
	b)	Flush toilet $\Box$ with septic	tank 🗆 C	connected to sewer	system		
	c)	Communal toilet					
	d)	Others					
17.	Wha	What is the main source of your income and support for your family?					
	a)	Formal 🗆 Permanent 🛛 Te	mporary				
	b)	Informal	🗆 Tempora	ry			
	Loca	tion of employment:					
10	I	un manthly in som of					
18.	-	Palaw MK5, 000,00					
	a) b)	Below MK5, 000.00 Between MK5, 000.00 and M	W 10, 000,00				
	b)	Above MK10, 000.00 and M	IK10, 000.00				
	c) d)	Not known					
	e)	Unwilling to disclose					
	•)						
		tenants go to number 22)					
19.		t improvements have you done to		in the past 10 year	rs?		
	a)		g) Painting				
	b)		h) Additional r	ooms			
	c)		) Fencing				
	d)		j) Tree Plantin	g			
	e)		x) Others				
	f)	Electricity					
20.		improvements do you plan for yo		the near future?			
	g)	Roof	g) Painting				

- h) Walls h) Additional rooms
  - Floor i) Fencing
- j) Water j) Tree Planting
- k) Toilet k) Others
- l) Electricity

i)

#### (Household Interview questions)

- 21. What are the reasons for not planning to improve? (If none at above)
  - a) fear of eviction
  - b) received eviction notice
  - c) rumour of eviction
  - d) no need to improve
  - e) do not want to remain in the area
  - f) plot size small
  - g) lack of funds
  - h) other
- 22. Do you have plans to move out of this settlement?
  - a) Certainly not
  - b) Uncertain
  - c) Certain

Please explain your answer.

#### 23. How would you categories the availability, in this settlement, of the public

spaces	listed spaces listed here below:	Fair	Poor
a)	Public schools		
b)	Public health facilities		
c)	Cemetery		
d)	Roads		
e)	Markets		
f)	Religious places		
g)	Play grounds not attached to schools		
h)	Public water points		

- 24. In your opinion, how important are Public Spaces in a settlement? (Please elaborate your answer)
- 25. In what community organization activities have you participated in as a resident of this settlement?

(If in none, explain why)

- 26. Are there obstacles encountered in trying to carry out community activities?
  - a) Lack of finance
  - b) Cooperation
  - c) Political interference
  - d) Lack of government support
  - e) Poor leadership
  - f) Other

27. As a matter of urgency, what would you wish the government/council to do for the settlement?

9.2.	Appendix 2: Chirimba sampled point coordinates
------	------------------------------------------------

	CHIRIMBA SAMPLES SEPTEMBER 2002			
SERIAL-		X-	Y-	
NO	SAMPLE-ID	COORDINATE	COORDINATE	
1	1	716068	8258835	
2	3	715968	8258735	
3	7	716368	8258735	
4	9	716568	8258735	
5	11	715968	8258635	
6	15	716368	8258635	
7	17	716568	8258635	
8	27	716468	8258535	
9	29	716668	8258535	
10	31	715768	8258435	
11	33	715968	8258435	
12	35	716168	8258435	
13	39	716568	8258435	
14	41	715768	8258335	
15	43	715968	8258335	
16	45	916168	8258335	
17	47	716368	8258335	
18	49	716568	8258335	
19	55	716168	8258235	
20	57	716368	8258235	
21	59	716568	8258235	
22	61	716768	8258135	
23	51	715768	8258235	
24	65	716368	8258135	
25	69	716768	8258135	

Table 9-1 Chirimba sampled point coordinates

	NDIRANDE	SAMPLES, SEPTE	MBER 2002	
		X-COORDINATE		
		718568	8256135	
1				
2	3	718568	8255935	
3	5	718468	8255935	
4	9	718368	8255835	
5	11	718568	8255835	
6	13	718168	8255735	
7	15	718368	8255735	
8	17	718568	8255735	
9	21	718268	8255635	
10	23	718468	8255635	
11	25	718668	8255635	
12	29	718268	8255535	
13	31	718468	8255535	
14	33	718668	8255535	
15	35	717968	8355435	
16	37	718168	8255435	
17	41	718568	8255435	
18	45	717968	8255335	
19	47	718168	8255335	
20	49	718368	8255335	
21	53	717768	8255235	
22	57	718168	8255235	
23	61	717868	8255135	
24	63	718068	8255135	
25	65	718268	8255135	

## 9.3. Appendix 3: Ndirande sampled point coordinates

 Table 9-2 Ndirande sampled point coordinates

## 9.4. Appendix 4: Utility providers questionnaire

Date of the interview	
Organization Name.	

Questions.

- 1. What policy does your organization have on taking services to unplanned settlements?
- 2. Are you aware of the city planning requirements that no services should be taken to unplanned areas?
- 3. How does the policy of no services before planning and regularization affect your activities in these settlements?
- 4. What is your driving force considering the requirement of no services to unplanned settlements?
- 5. How do you gain access to your clients in these areas where public purpose spaces are not defined?
- 6. How do you protect your way leaves?
- 7. In which ways do you think your work of taking services to residential areas would be made easier?
- 8. Whom would you blame for the sprawl of Informal Settlements in Blantyre?
- 9. What working relationship is there between your organization and other service giving bodies involved in Informal Settlements?
- 10. In your opinion what do you think is the best method of upgrading the settlements?
- 11. What's your organizations future plans for these settlements?

The above questions were asked to all utility providers but elaboration and emphasis differed depending on the organizations policy on Informal Settlements and the way the questions were answered. This was due to probing that was necessary in most cases for clarity and meaning implied in the answers.

#### 9.5. Appendix 5: Departmental officials questionnaire

#### 9.5.1. Questions to City Assembly's Roads Engineer.

1. What policy is there in the department on unplanned settlement?

- 2. Is the council doing the much it should for residents in these settlements?
- 3. Would one be justified to say that services by your department are only when the president is in the areas and campaign times
- 4. How does the community go about getting services from your department?
- 5. What are the main problems in these settlements according to you
- 6. What method of upgrading would you recommend for these settlements?
- 7. Do these settlements have a future according to you?

#### 9.5.2. Questions to City Assembly's Community Officer.

- 1. Which are the communities based organizations operating in the unplanned settlements?
- 2. How are they formed?
- 3. What do they normally concern themselves with?
- 4. How active are they?
- 5. Do they hold public meetings?
- 6. Would you term public participation as satisfactory?
- 7. My observations were that community organizations whether from within the settlements or without are very unpopular. May I have your comment on this?
- 8. What limits Community participation in the settlements?
- 9. What would you term as the real problems facing the residents of unplanned settlements?
- 10. What method of upgrading would you as a person recommend for these settlements?

#### 9.5.3. Questions to City Assembly Physical planner.

- 1. What are the processes that lead to unplanned settlements in Blantyre city?
- 2. Who are the actual developers in the unplanned areas?
- 3. What obstacles are encountered while trying to avail planned land to developers?
- 4. What relationship is there between your department and the traditional leaders?

- 5. Why has the council not taken full control of Public Spaces for management on behalf of the residents in the settlements?
- 6. Do you think the council is doing the much it should do for these residents?
- 7. What are the main problems in these settlements according to you?
- 8. How do you think the living conditions in these settlements should be improved?
- 9. Utility companies, accuse the council of having policies that try to prohibit services in these settlements. What's your comment on this?
- 10. Do you think the recent land policy has clarified the place of City Assembly in land management against that of other authorities?
- 11. What future plans does the department have on unplanned settlements?
- 12. As a person, what would you wish to see done in the Informal Settlements?

#### 9.5.4. Questions to Officer in the Commissioner of Lands department.

- 1. What policy is there about Informal Settlements?
- 2. How do people access land for housing in the city?
- 3. Is the formal method very inclusive of all income groups in the city?
- 4. Who should be blamed on the increasing sprawl of Informal Settlements in the city?
- 5. Does the city Assembly have a free hand on development control in the city?
- 6. What is your comment about the role of traditional leaders in these settlements?
- 7. What do you think should be done to improve living conditions in the settlement?

8. Utility companies claim land policies are too negative especially on the supply of services to Informal Settlements. What are your comments?

- 9. What upgrading method would you recommend in the Informal Settlements?
- 10. Has the recent land policy addressed the problem of Informal Settlements in a manageable way?

#### 9.6. Appendix 6: Village heads questionnaire

Date of the interview:	
Name of the settlement	
Name of the village head	

INTERNATIONAL INSTITUTE FOR GEO-INFORMATION SCIENCE AND EARTH OBSERVATION

#### **Interview Questions.**

- 1. Would you please give us a brief history on how the settlement started?
- 2. Is there any period when you have had more people coming in the settlement than would normally be usual?
- 3. Do you have enough Public Spaces that are for community purpose development and use?
- 4. How did these spaces come to be?
- 5. Who is supposed to protect these spaces against illegal developments?
- 6. Are they in any danger of being encroached on?
- 7. What stops people from having good houses with the necessary connections to infrastructures?
- 8. Are there community groups that concern themselves with the settlement welfare?
- 9. Which are the issues that they concern themselves in?
- 10. How active are they?
- 11. Do you as a leader hold community meetings?
- 12. Which are the issues that normally come up in the meetings?
- 13. Who is in charge of land matters in this settlement?
- 14. Do people voice insecurity for not having the right papers to land?
- 15. Are you aware that the settlement is within the municipal boundaries?
- 16. What is the role of the council in this settlement?
- 17. Is the council performing to your expectation?
- 18. Are you normally invited to attend meetings by the council on matters concerning this settlement?
- 19. Which are the people's immediate needs according to you that would go along way in improving there living situations in the settlement?
- 20. Between having the government embark on a titling program on one hand and giving services on the other hand what would you choose?

The above questions are to be asked as best as possible in order of the listing however elaboration and probing will differ depending on the answers given and the settlement in question.